Copyright Warning & Restrictions

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

ABSTRACT

THE FLOATING CONTRACT BETWEEN RISK-AVERSE SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS IN A VOLATILE COMMODITY PRICE ENVIRONMENT

by Mojisola Kike Otegbeye

In this dissertation, two separate but closely related decision making problems in environments of volatile commodity prices are addressed. In the first problem, a risk-averse commodity user's purchasing policy and his risk-neutral supplier's pricing decision, where the user can purchase his needs through contract with his supplier as well as directly from the spot market, are analyzed. The commodity user is assumed to be the supplier's sole client, and the supplier can always expand capacity, at a cost to the user, to accommodate the user's demand in excess of initially reserved capacity.

In the more generalized second problem, both parties (commodity user and supplier) are assumed to be risk averse, and both can directly access the spot market. In addition to making pricing decisions, the supplier is also faced with the challenge of establishing the right combination of in-house production and spot market engagements to manage her risk of exposure to spot price volatility under the contract. While the supplier has a frictionless buy and sell access to the spot market, the user can only access this market for buying purposes and incurs an access fee that is linearly increasing in the purchased volume.

In both problems, by adopting the mean-variance criterion to reflect aversion to risk, the decisions of both parties are explicitly characterized. Based on analytical results and numerical studies, managerial insights as to how changes in the model's parameters would affect each party's decisions are offered at length, and the implications of these results to the manager are discussed. A focal point for the dissertation is the consideration of a floating contract, the landing price of

which is contingent on the realization of the commodity's spot market price at the time of delivery. It was found that if properly designed, not only can this dynamic pricing arrangement strategically position a long-term supplier against spot market competition, but it also has the added benefit of leading to improved supply chain expected profits compared to a locked-in contract price setting. Another key finding is that when making her pricing decisions, the supplier runs the risk of overestimating the commodity user's vulnerability at higher levels of the user's aversion to risk as well as at higher volatility of spot prices.

THE FLOATING CONTRACT BETWEEN RISK-AVERSE SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS IN A VOLATILE COMMODITY PRICE ENVIRONMENT

by

Mojisola Kike Otegbeye

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Industrial Engineering

Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering

May 2010

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Copyright © 2010 by Mojisola Otegbeye

APPROVAL PAGE

THE FLOATING CONTRACT BETWEEN RISK-AVERSE SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS IN A VOLATILE COMMODITY PRICE ENVIRONMENT

Mojisola Kike Otegbeye

Pr. Han Yang, Dissertation Advisor Associate Professor of Industrial Engineering, NJIT	Date	
Dr. Sanchoy K. Das, Committee Member Professor of Industrial Engineering, NJIT	Date	
Dr. Athanassios Bladikas, Committee Member Associate Professor of Industrial Engineering, NJIT	Date	
Dr. Marvin K. Nakayama, Committee Member Associate Professor of Computer Science, NJIT	Date	
Dr. Cheickna Sylla, Committee Member Associate Professor of Management, NJIT	Date	

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Author: Mojisola Kike Otegbeye

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Date: May 2010

Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Industrial Engineering, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, New Jersey, 2010
- Master of Science in Engineering Management, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, New Jersey, 2005
- Bachelor of Engineering in Mechanical Engineering, Ahmadu Bello University, Nigeria, 2002

Major: Industrial Engineering

Presentations and Publications:

- Layek L. Abdel-Malek, Nathapol Areeratchakul, and Mojisola K. Otegbeye. "Designing for Manufacturing Flexibility: a Newsvendor Approach". International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering, 1(1-2), pp. 201-220, 2006.
- Otegbeye M., Abdel-Malek, L., Hsieh, H.N., and Meegoda, J.N. "On Achieving the State's Household Recycling Target: a Case Study of Northern New Jersey, USA". Waste Management, 29(2), pp. 647-654, 2009.
- Cheickna Sylla, Mojisola Otegbeye, and Balca Bolunmez. "A Hybrid Approach to Construction Contractors' Evaluation and Selection. Accepted for Publication by the Journal of Academy of Business and Economics, 2010.
- Mojisola Otegbeye, and Cheickna Sylla. "A Fuzzy-Based Decision Support System for Construction Contractors Evaluation and Selection". In Proceedings of the Fifth Wuhan International Conference on E-Business, Wuhan, China, pp. 2165-2172, May 27-28, 2006.

- Mojisola Otegbeye, and Cheickna Sylla. "Seller's Reputation Problem in Self-Enforcing Relational Contracts". To Appear In Proceedings of the Ninth Wuhan International Conference on E-Business, Wuhan, China, May 28-30, 2010.
- Layek L. Abdel-Malek, and Mojisola Otegbeye. "Separable Programming/Duality Approach to Solving the Multi Constrained Newsboy/Gardener Problem". Under review at the European Journal of Operational Research, 2009.
- Mojisola Otegbeye, and Jian Yang. "The Floating Contract Between Risk-Averse Supply Chain Partners in a Volatile Commodity Price Environment". In preparation for submission to Management Science, 2010.
- Mojisola Otegbeye and Layek Abdel-Malek. "On Supply Chain Inventory Management Utilizing Extensions of the Multi-Product Newsboy Models". 7th ISIR Summer School on Supply Chain Management, Mannheim Business School, University of Mannheim, Germany, Aug. 14-19, 2005.
- Mojisola Otegbeye, and Jian Yang. "Dual Sourcing in a Volatile Commodity Price Environment". POMS Conference, Orlando, Florida, May 1-4, 2009.
- Mojisola Otegbeye, and Jian Yang. "Dual Sourcing in a Volatile Commodity Price Environment". INFORMS Conference, San Diego, CA, Oct. 11-14, 2009.

V

This dissertation is dedicated to the evergreen memory of my dearly beloved father, mentor, hero, and friend, Dr. G.O. Otegbeye. A rare gem, yours was a life of inspiration, brilliance, courage, devotion, and sacrifice. You will always be missed.

1

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Words cannot express the depth of gratitude I owe my dissertation advisor, Dr. Jian Yang, for the excellent mentorship, prompt feedback, patience, constant encouragement, and generous financial support I received from him during the course of my program. I consider myself very fortunate to have had the unique privilege of working under someone with such exceptional research expertise, enthusiasm, and passion.

I am very much indebted to my other committee members: Dr. Sanchoy Das, Dr. Athanassios Bladikas, Dr. Marvin Nakayama, and Dr. Cheickna Sylla, for their valuable support and for the excellent tutelage I received from their classes during my Masters and Ph.D programs at NJIT. I also want to thank Dr. Layek Abdel-Malek for giving me my first research opportunity at NJIT and the words of advice I received from him over the years.

It would have been impossible for me to undertake the Ph.D program without the generous financial awards I received from the Industrial Engineering group at NJIT. In particular, I owe Dr. Sanchoy Das, and Dr. Athanassios Bladikas a depth of gratitude for their very kind gesture in helping me in this regard. I will also like to thank Dr. Reggie Caudill, Dr. Janice Daniel, and Dr. Jay Meegoda for the financial assistance they extended to me at one point or the other during my stay at NJIT.

While at NJIT, I had the privilege of making some great friends from among faculty members, staff members, and students. My thanks go to the wonderful people at the Office of International Students led by Dr. Jeffrey Grundy, and the Office of Graduate Studies led by Dr. Ronald Kane, for their guidance and support. To Francine Vaccaro, Patricia Lundberg, John Gidney, Haymwantee Singh, and Kevin Walsh, I will always cherish your friendship and fond memories. I also wish to appreciate Dr. Rajpal Sodhi, Yvonne Williams, Aileen Checa, Barbara Valenti, Joseph Glaz, and Margaret Sullivan of the Mechanical and Industrial Engineering department for their kind

support. My thanks go to Dr. David Washington for his friendship and encouragement. I thank my colleagues: Atipol Kanchanapiboon, Randy Reagan, Yifeng Liu, Sun Olapiriyakul, Nathapol Areeratchakul, Laila Jallo, Babajide Osatuyi, Sungyong Choi, Junmin Shi, Kathleen Martino, Rose Kiwanuka, and Gang Wang, for their fruitful discussions and support.

Back in college in Nigeria, I had some excellent mentors that greatly encouraged me to pursue my PhD studies in the United States. To this end, I wish to appreciate the efforts of Professor C.O. Afolayan, and Engineer Shola Obeilodan.

I am most fortunate to have found homes away from home here in the United States through the love, friendship, and support of some outstanding individuals, to whom I say a BIG thank you. These include: the Okubanjos, Alades, Adedipes, Bennins, Dairos, Oyedirans, Olatunbosuns, Franklyn-Ayenis, Kumapleys, Dr. Wande Morgan, Dr. Taiwo Adeosun, Annette Heinze, Karen Paraza; and my most beloved friends, Angela Johnson, and Tunrayo and Tokunbo Adesanya. My deep appreciation also goes to my church family - AGAPE House of Worship, led by Pastor and Pastor Mrs. Lawore.

I am eternally grateful to my wonderful family members: my ever gracious mother, Mrs. Yemi Otegbeye; siblings, Folasade, Oladayo, and Olumuyiwa Otegbeye; husband, Seyi Eseyin-Johnson; the Rotimi families; as well as my beloved friends, Ayobola Gasper, and Abimbola Kafilah Buraimoh. The successful completion of my Ph.D study is owed to their untiring support, love, patience, and encouragement.

Lastly, my ultimate thanks go to my Lord, the Almighty, for giving me life, and surrounding me with people of great minds and humble spirits.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter					
1	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1	Motivation	1		
	1.2	Objectives	8		
	1.3	Contributions to the Literature	9		
	1.4	Dissertation Structure	11		
2.	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	13		
	2.1	Purchasing Models in a Volatile Commodity Price Framework	13		
		2.1.1 Expected-Value Optimization Models	14		
		2.1.2 Expected Utility Models	17		
		2.1.3 Mean-Variance Models	19		
	2.2	Why Forward Contracts to Hedge Commodity Price Risk?	22		
3	TH	E PURCHASING, AND PRICING PROBLEM	24		
	3.1	Problem Description	24		
	3.2	Problem Formulation	27		
	3.3	Analysis	29		
	3.4	A Comparative Statics Study	33		
		3.4.1 Effects of α , the Contract's Exposure to Spot Price	34		
		3.4.2 Effects of β , the Commodity User's Degree of Risk Averseness	37		
		3.4.3 Effects of γ , the Severity of the Off-capacity Penalty \ldots	40		
		3.4.4 Effects of ω , the Capacity Reserved at the Supplier	42		
		3.4.5 Effects of μ , the Expected Spot Price of the Commodity	43		
		3.4.6 Effects of σ^2 , the Spot Price Volatility	44		

Cl	hapter	r		Page	
	3.5	Manag	erial Implications	. 45	
4	THI	E PURC	HASING, PRICING, AND PRODUCTION PROBLEM	. 50	
	4.1	Proble	m Description	. 50	
	4.2	Proble	m Formulation	. 51	
	4.3	Analysis			
	4.4	A Con	parative Statics Study	. 61	
		4.4.1	Effects of α , the Contract's Exposure to Spot Price	. 62	
		4.4.2	Effects of Risk Aversion Factors β^u and β^s .	. 66	
		4.4.3	Effects of γ , the User's Spot Market Access Fee	. 68	
		4.4.4	Effects of μ , the Expected Spot Price of the Commodity	. 70	
		4.4.5	Effects of σ^2 , the Spot Price Volatility $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$. 71	
	4.5	Manag	erial Implications	. 72	
5	CO	NCLUS	ION	. 75	
6	FU	FURE R	ESEARCH DIRECTIONS	. 78	
	6.1	Effects	of Sport Market Yield	. 78	
	6.2	Effects	s of Disparity in Spot Market Price Distributions	. 79	
	6.3	Relatio	onal Contracts	. 79	
A	PPEN	IDIX A	PROOF OF PROPOSITIONS	. 83	
A	PPEN	IDIX B	TRANSFORMATION OF EQUATION (3.6) INTO EQUATION (3.7) .	. 97	
R	EFER	ENCES		98	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figur	e	Page
3.1	Effect of α on E^u and V^u	. 47
3.2	Effect of α on E^{sc}	. 47
3.3	Effect of β on E^u and V^u for $\gamma > \gamma_0$. 48
3.4	Effect of β on E^u and V^u for $\gamma < \gamma_0 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$. 48
3.5	Effect of γ on E^u and V^u	. 48
3.6	Effect of ω on E^u and V^u	. 49
3.7	Effect of μ on E^u and V^u	. 49
3.8	Effect of σ^2 on E^u and V^u	. 49
4.1	Effect of α on $E[\Psi^u]$, $E[\Psi^s]$, and $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ for $x^u = \delta$. 66
4.2	Effect of α on $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ for $x^u \leq \delta$. 66
4.3	Significance of γ on Supply Chain Improvements with $\alpha > 0$ Contracts	. 69

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation

Of recent, the global commodity markets have been experiencing increasing volatility of commodity prices, catalyzed by such factors as instability in global production volumes, constantly changing exchange rates, unstable political relations, and the rapid emergence of new technologies. In September of 2006, Purchasing magazine (Stundza, 2006), reported that the periodic reviews of metal price forecasts pushed up the world copper consensus average to 3.05/lb, up from about 2.60 at midyear, and compared with just under 1.70/lb in 2005 while the consensus forecast for 2007 was a cloudy average of 2.60. In a related article by the same source, fluctuations in iron ore prices have led to substantial price increases from steel makers in recent years, peaking at 71.5 percent in 2005 and 18 percent in 2006.

The oil markets have also had their share of wild runs in recent times. As at July 2008, a barrel of crude oil sold for \$145, and experts began to predict that it will hit \$200 per barrel by December of the same year. However, as the global economy faltered, oil fell to \$33 per barrel by that December, while as at July 2009, oil went for \$70 per barrel, a 55 percent jump from its December 2008 price (Mouawad, 2009). In 2008, Southwest Airlines, a company well known for insuring itself against volatile prices by buying long-term oil contracts, reported two consecutive quarters of losses, as prices spiked and collapsed - all within a few months. According to a representative of the firm, "Prices were falling faster than we could de-hedge," (Mouawad, 2009).

Therefore, with increasing pressures on bottom lines, it becomes obvious that to stay competitive in today's era of escalating commodity prices, manufacturing firms must incorporate into

1

the integrated acquisition/production planning process, the influence of commodity price volatility on decisions concerning commodity procurement strategies.

Arrow et al. (1951), and Dvoretzky et al. (1952) are among the pioneer works that form the foundation of modern stochastic inventory concepts. Girlich and Chikan (2001), gives a comprehensive study on the rise of inventory modeling under uncertainty particularly as a fallout of these two, while providing historical insight into the interrelation of mathematics and inventory modeling in searching for the best ordering rule, spanning the fields of statistics, probability theory and stochastic processes, game theory, and dynamic programming.

A review of literature reveals that for most documented works on stochastic inventory control policies, emphases have been placed on demand uncertainties, especially by the ones based on the celebrated newsvendor paradigm from the seminal work of Whitin (1955). This trend is hardly surprising given the dominant age long challenge of making inventory decisions in the face of uncertainties in demand, especially with the traditional make to stock manufacturing framework. The advent of just - in time inventory philosophies of the early 1970s (Vuppalapati (1995)) which advocates a lean approach to production, brought to the limelight, the critical role supplier reliability and/or relationship plays in facilitating manufacturing efficiency and this has largely stimulated the significantly rich literature on the subject of stochastic supply inventory control modeling. While Karlin (1958) was the first to consider the implications of yield uncertainty on inventory stocking decisions for an agricultural problem, it was the work of Silver (1976) in which the author incorporated the effect of yield uncertainty in the Economic Order Quantity (EOQ) framework that stimulated interests in researching the effects of random yields, particularly for the continuous review inventory models. An extensive survey of works in this arena of random supply is presented by Yano and Lee (1995).

The 1960s and 1970s witnessed a fundamental transition from a world dominated by Key-

nesian forms of national economic management to a world system dominated by the anarchy of global competition (Cypher, 1984). In particular, with the rise of OPEC in the 1970s came the oil supply shock that saw surging oil prices and the attendant inflationary pressures. This largely explains why the effects of raw material procurement price volatility on inventory policy began to gain attention in academic circles around this era. Some notable early works are those of Fabian et al. (1959), Friend (1960), Hurter and Kaminsky (1968), and Naddor (1966). While Fabian et al. (1959) pioneered research on fluctuating commodity procurement costs where they consider the case of deterministic inventories for which the price of the raw material varies from period to period, it was Kalymon (1971) who attracted scholarly interests on multiple purchase price levels by showing the optimality of a price-dependent (s, S) policy where the purchase prices of future periods assume a Markovian stochastic process and the distribution of demand in each period depends on the current purchase price. Buzacott's (1975) incorporation of inflationary effects on optimal ordering decisions stimulated the advent of research interests on how continuous changes in purchase price affect inventory policies with most of these works assuming deterministic future price with constant rate of change (Berling (2008)).

With increasing uncertainty of supply networks, globalization of businesses, product proliferation, and shortening of product life cycles, organizations are increasingly forced to look beyond their four walls to collaborate with supply chain partners (Sahay, and Mohan, 2003). Supply chain management integrates supply and demand management within and across channel partners and the coordination of all the chain's activities. Coordination is particularly important because supply chain partners have conflicting objectives, so that for the optimal supply chain performance to be realized, various incentive re-alignments must be made among channel partners.

To address this issue of supply chain coordination, several authors have offered different contractual frameworks to provide incentives for each channel partner to align it's objective with that

3

of the supply chain. In these research efforts, a large amount of attention has been directed towards designing contracts that incorporate such features as quantity discounts (Starr and Miller (1962), Monahan (1984), and Viswanthan and Wang (2003)), returns or buy-backs (Pasternack (1985) and Lariviere and Porteus (2001)), revenue sharing (Pasternack (2001), Wang et al. (2004), Giannoc-caro and Pontradolfo (2004), and Cachon and Lariviere (2005)), minimum quantity commitments (Bassok and Anupindi (1997)), and quantity flexibility (Tsay (1999)). For a detailed review of such supply chain contracts, the reader is referred to Tsay et al. (1999) and Cachon (2003).

While the supply chain literature on channel coordinating contracts is very extensive, major emphasis has been placed on where the need for coordination is driven by demand uncertainties. In contrast, scant attention has been given to the situation where supply chain partners are faced with the dilemma of making decisions in fluctuating input commodity price environments that are characteristic of most of today's commodity markets. Even among the few works that take commodity price volatility into account, most adopt the expected-value optimization approach in addressing the decision maker's problem thereby making the assumption that the decision maker is risk neutral.

In reality, the decision maker may be willing to sacrifice higher profits for lower but more stable earnings. In their experimental study, Schweitzer and Cachon (2000) found their subjects to exhibit risk-aversion towards high-value products as they systematically ordered amounts lower than that which maximizes the expected profit. Eeckhoudt et al. (1995) also showed that the risk-averse newsboy will systematically place a smaller order than that which maximizes expected profit. In a 2007 McKinsey global survey on funds allocation, more than 40 percent of the respondents described their companies as risk averse. Therefore, the need for models that capture the risk averse behavior of the decision maker (DM) as a key input in establishing the DM's optimal choices cannot be overemphasized. In my dissertation, addressing a commodity user's sourcing

allocation strategy between a long-term supplier (also called the commodity producer) and an alternative spot market, I incorporate the effect of risk aversion on the user's and supplier's decision making.

In practice, it has been found that while some firms have preference for fixed contract pricing, others prefer time-varying contract price settings. For example, an executive at BHP, the world's third largest iron ore miner noted in a recent interview that while some of its clients prefer floating contract prices, the big steel makers prefer stable long-term contract prices, and in response to this realization, the company is shifting towards a mixed pricing mechanism (International Business Times, 2009). However, for virtually all the works documented in literature, there is either the inherent assumption that the buyer will settle for a fixed price contract, or the assumption that the buyer's preference is strictly a non-stationary price contract. Hence, the design of a mixed pricing contract that allows the capture of the buyer's pricing preference will no doubt constitute an important contribution to the existing supply chain contracting literature. In this dissertation, I propose a flexible contract, the buyer (referred to as the commodity user) has the flexibility of requesting a purely fixed price contract or specifying the level of exposure to a future spot price of the commodity that he seeks under the contract.

In the supply chain contracting literature that addresses a buyer's optimal purchase allocation between his long-term supplier(s) and the spot market given the volatility of the commodity's spot price, there are those works that assume an unconstrained capacity for the supplier and those that take the on approach that due to the significance of installation lead time, the supplier needs to invest in capacity well ahead of the receipt of a firm order from the buyer. Very popular among the latter category are the capacity reservation contracts (e.g. Wu et al., (2002), Sethi and Feng, (2008)), and one thing these works share in common is that any demand in excess of the planned capacity will result in lost sales to the supplier. In practice however, a capacity constrained producer can temporarily expand capacity through such means as running overtime production, leasing workstations, and subcontracting, while charging its client a premium for making such temporary arrangements to accommodate the excess demand. Such flexible capacity management initiatives have been quite extensively studied in the context of stochastic demand as the underlying source of uncertainty (Mincsovics et al. (2009)).

In the first problem addressed in this dissertation, termed the purchasing, and pricing problem, I adopt the approach that while a commodity producer (supplier) initially invests in an agreed upon capacity for the commodity user, she can temporarily expand capacity to satisfy a contract order that exceeds the dedicated capacity. I make the assumption that the commodity user knows the demand for the refined commodity ahead of its realization, and what drives the uncertainty of the order he eventually places with contract is the unstable spot price of the commodity, as he is torn between purchasing from the supplier and purchasing directly from the spot market.

While seeking to maximize her share of her client's commodity needs, the supplier makes her pricing decisions in the same uncertain spot market conditions that the commodity user faces. It can thus be reasonably expected that in practice, at the time of contract negotiation, the supplier's offered price would be reflective of the spot price behavior as well her anticipation of the commodity user's response. However, with the exception of a few like Kleindorfer and Wu (2003) and Wu et al. (2002), almost all of the existing works do not reflect if and how the supplier sets the contract price based on these considerations, but rather, the focus is for the most part, on the buyer's transaction choice, given already set contract parameters. In this dissertation, I consider the interplay of the supplier's and commodity user's optimal choices.

Lastly, virtually all works in the relevant literature that take into account the buyer's and supplier's spot market accessibility ignore the possibility of the existence of a disparity in both parties'

6

spot market transaction efficiencies. Most assume for example, that for either party, the total expense involved in using the spot market at any given point in time is the prevailing spot price. This is quite contrary to what is obtained in practice whereby if we factor in the differences in administrative costs for instance, the actual cost of spot market engagements can be unique to each market participant. In the second problem addressed in this dissertation, termed the purchasing, pricing, and production problem, I assume that the supplier has a frictionless access to the spot market, and the only expense she incurs in purchasing from this market is the spot price of the commodity. For the commodity user however, aside the spot price of the commodity, I assume that he also incurs a fee to access the spot market, and this fee is linearly increasing in the purchased volume. On the premise that the supplier is a major player in the industry of concern, the spot market price disparity assumption closely reflects what would be obtained in practice where a major supplier can leverage economies of scale superior knowledge on how to efficiently navigate the market in realizing negligible market transaction costs (exclusive of the spot price) in contrast to a smaller purchasing firm (the commodity user in this case).

One can imagine the spot access fee to be a cost the user incurs in finding the commodity producers with surplus in the spot market. The fee could also be viewed as the cost incurred by the user as a result of his last minute ordering from the spot market jeopardizing his timely delivery to the end customer (there is typically a short time lag between the time the user places his order with a supplier in the spot market and when he takes delivery of the commodity). The idea of a buyer incurring the spot price plus some additional transaction cost for each unit purchased from the spot market is well established in literature (see Kaminsky et al. (2009), and Pei (2008)). According to Pei (2008), the cost of purchasing units from the spot market is typically higher than the quoted spot price due to hidden transaction, adaptation and compatibility costs, stemming from issues like asset specificity, time specificity, product compatibility, and transactional complexity. It is worth

noting that in this dissertation, the underlying cause of the disparity in the user's and supplier's spot market expense is the differences in their spot market transaction efficiencies. Neither party is assumed to have any perceptible influence on the spot price.

1.2 Objectives

This dissertation studies a purchasing firm's sourcing strategies and his supplier's choices in environments of volatile commodity prices. The dissertation is a two-part problem addressing two closely related problems. A more restrictive version of the second problem and termed the purchasing and pricing problem, the first problem seeks to derive the optimal allocation of a risk-averse commodity user's (also called user for brevity) purchasing needs between a long-term risk-neutral commodity producer (supplier) and an alternative spot market, as well as the optimal pricing decision of the supplier. In contrast to the common approach in the related literature that constrain the contract price to be either strictly fixed or strictly time-varying, I propose a contract structure that captures both cases thus providing the user the flexibility of selecting his pricing preference. In addition, while it is common in the related literature to assume that a supplier cannot satisfy demand in excess of the capacity she initial reserved for the user, I make allowance for temporary capacity expansion to satisfy excess demand.

The more elaborate second problem, termed the purchasing, pricing, and production problem, adopts the same contract pricing arrangement as the first, but relaxes the assumptions that the supplier is risk-neutral and does not have access to an alternative market (the spot market in this case), and that the user's access to the spot market is always without friction. In addition to the decisions addressed by the first problem, the latter problem also tackles the production (supply strategy) decisions of the supplier given her need to manage the risks associated with the proposed

1.3 Contributions to the Literature

From the two problems to be studied, my dissertation aims at contributing to the supply chain contracting literature in the following distinct ways:

For the purchasing and pricing problem:

1. I propose a flexible contract pricing arrangement that offers the risk averse commodity user the flexibility to opt for a purely fixed price setting or a dynamic contract price that is tied to the realization of the spot market price at the time of delivery of the sourced commodity.

2. I make provisions for temporary capacity expansion so that the supplier can accommodate demand in excess of the user's reserved capacity to more closely reflect what happens in practice.

3. For both parties (commodity user and supplier), I obtain closed form optimal solutions that are reflective of the supplier's anticipation of the user's reaction to the offered contract price. In great detail, through analytical results and numerical studies, I provide managerial insights as to how changes in the parameters of the model will affect the optimal decisions of both parties. I also discuss the managerial implications of some of the more interesting findings.

The results from the analysis of the purchasing, and pricing problem reveal that when the random price component that the commodity user experiences under the contract is "low enough", not only can the proposed dynamic contract pricing arrangement strategically position a long-term supplier against spot market competition, but it also has the added benefit of leading to improved supply chain expected profits compared to a fixed contract price setting.

For the more elaborate purchasing, pricing, and production problem:

1. I again consider the same contract pricing arrangement proposed in the previous problem.

However, in this problem, both the commodity user and supplier are now considered to be riskaverse.

2. I consider the possibility of the risk-averse supplier using spot market purchases to actively manage the risk of the realized contract price falling below her production cost owing to unanticipated decrease in spot prices. It is not unusual for the spot price of a commodity to fall below its cost of production. For example, by the end of 1998, West Texas Intermediate Crude Oil (WTI) spot prices fell to near \$10 per barrel , while the average production cost for twenty four of the larger United States oil companies was \$8.60 per barrel, with many oil fields incurring as much as four times this average (Williams (1999)). The question of the right combination of in-house production and spot market purchases to meet the user's demand is addressed for the supplier.

3. To better reflect what is usually obtained in practice, I factor in the user's possible nonfrictionless spot market access. This is in contrast to existing works in the related literature that simply assume that the only expense to the buyer in making spot market purchases is the spot market price.

4. Closed form solutions are derived and in great detail, I provide managerial insights as to how changes in the parameters of the model will affect the decisions of both parties.

The results from the analysis of the purchasing, pricing, and production problem reveal that there exists a certain threshold on the user's spot market access fee, above which his equilibrium strategy is always to solely purchase his commodity needs from contract with the supplier. Below this threshold, the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market purchases to satisfy his needs. Where the user's equilibrium strategy is to solely source from contract, conditions were found under which the floating contract improves the user's equilibrium expected profits, while such pricing structure was discovered to be always detrimental to the supplier's and overall supply chain's expected profits. On the other hand, where the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market, and incurs a non-zero fee to access the spot market, the floating contract always results in win-win outcomes for both the user and supplier to the overall benefit of the supply chain. However, when the user's only spot market expense is the spot price, the floating contract yields the same equilibrium expected profits and equilibrium variances of profit that would be obtained with a fixed contract. Another crucial finding is that the supplier's equilibrium variance of profit is independent of the contract's exposure to the spot price, so that in terms of gaining greater control over variable profits, the supplier is no better off with a locked in contract price.

1.4 Dissertation Structure

The rest of the dissertation is organized as follows. Following this introduction, chapter 2 provides a detailed review of the relevant literature. In this chapter, I categorize the related literature that address decision making in a volatile commodity price framework into three groups - Expected Value Optimization models, Expected Utility Optimization models, and Mean-Variance Optimization models. I also discuss the rationale behind the focus of this dissertation on the use of forward contracts to hedge commodity price increases as against the use of derivatives.

Chapter 3 addresses the purchasing, and pricing problem. The problem description for the commodity user as well as the commodity producer (henceforth called the supplier) is furnished. The models to address both parties' problems are presented and closed-form equilibrium solutions are derived. Using comparative statics analysis, the influences of model parameters on the decisions of both parties are studied, and the performance of the proposed contract price structure is compared to that of a fixed price setting. Important managerial implications of some relevant results are discussed.

In chapter 4, the more intricate purchasing, pricing, and production problem is studied. The

commodity user's and supplier's problems are defined, and the relevant models are presented and analyzed. Closed-form equilibrium solutions are derived and comparative statics analysis conducted. Managerial insights are drawn from analytical results and important managerial implications are highlighted.

Chapter 5 presents the concluding remarks, summarizing the findings in this dissertation, while Chapter 6 discusses future research directions.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Purchasing Models in a Volatile Commodity Price Framework

With the rapid growth of online spot markets for a broad range of supplies like memory chips, chemicals, energy, telecommunication bandwidth and so forth, companies are increasingly adopting spot market procurement alongside the traditional long-term contracting for their input needs (Seifert et al. (2004)). While the spot market is without doubt riskier than term contracts particularly given the variability of spot prices, its appeal over term contracts is the flexibility it offers market participants to take advantage of price dips, better adjust to fluctuating demand, and its negligible delivery lead time. For example, the spot market is estimated to represent about 20% of total iron-ore trade (Kinch (2008)) and 20% DRAM chips market (Crane (2007)). In a rather dramatic turn of events, while in 2008, spot market sales accounted for about 30% of iron-ore trades in China, by 2009, the country's iron-ore spot sales had jumped to 60% (Scott and Gordon (2009)).

The rising significance of the spot market as a viable commodity-procurement mechanism has caught the attention of the academia and a good number of researchers have either contrasted long-term to spot contracting or analyzed the optimal balance between the two. Others have simply focussed on designing the optimal procurement policy for a term contract or spot market trade. What these works all have in common is that purchasing decision is made in the face of spot price uncertainty. This chapter discusses some of these. From my extensive review of literature, I categorize the related works into three major groups based on the assumption made on the risk preference of the decision maker and the optimization approach adopted to establish the optimal choices. The first group of documented works assume risk neutrality for the decision maker (DM) and model the DM's objective as an expected-value optimization problem. The second group of documented literature assume that the decision maker is risk averse and adopt the expected utility optimization concept in modeling the DM's problem. The third group of documented works also assume that the decision maker is risk averse, but adopt the mean-variance optimization maxim in establishing the optimal decisions.

2.1.1 Expected-Value Optimization Models

Given two alternatives with the same expected value, a risk-neutral decision maker equally prefers the alternative with a risk-free outcome and that with a risky outcome. This is because the risk neutral decision maker is willing to play the long-run odds when making decisions, and evaluates alternatives according to their expected values. Such approach to risk may be justified when decisions are made over a large number of the realizations of the random event so that the Law of Large Numbers can be invoked. Suppose the decision maker's payoff at some future time, when viewed at the current decision time is a random X(v) subject to his control v in some range V. Then, the risk neutral decision maker seeks to solve the expected-value optimization problem:

$$w^* = \max_{v \in V} E[X(v)],$$
 (2.1)

where E[X(v)] is the expected payoff. This optimization model can be modified accordingly to accommodate the case where the preference is to minimize a given performance measure like expected cost.

Given that the validity of risk-neutral decision making is closely tied to the applicability of the Law of Large Numbers, the expected-value optimization approach to decision making under risk becomes less suitable as the assumption that the decision maker seeks to optimize over some long-run performance measure is relaxed. This modeling technique appears however to be the most common approach that has been adopted by works in the literature that address the decision making of a buyer and sometimes of his supplier(s) given that the price of the sourced commodity is random. I now discuss some of these.

Li and Kouvelis (1999) studied impacts of time and quantity flexibility, as well as risk sharing on sourcing contracts when the purchase price of the sourced component is uncertain and its demand is known. With the objective of establishing the purchasing strategy that minimizes the buyer's expected discounted total cost, their model did not take into account the risk from the uncertainty of the material's unit price. Under the time-flexible contract, the firm observes the price movement and dynamically decides when to buy. For the risk sharing contract, a factor is incorporated to represent how much the supplier is going to share the risk with the firm and vice versa when the unit price moves against either parties. Their results reveal that contractual flexibility can effectively reduce sourcing costs in environments of price uncertainty. Closely related to the work of Li and Kouvelis is that of Fotopoulos et al. (2008) in which the authors provide a framework for identifying the expected optimum purchasing time.

Swinney and Netessine (2009) consider a risk neutral buyer with two identical suppliers to contract from. The suppliers are faced with uncertain production costs and the contract price is partially tied to the stochastic production cost component that is common to both suppliers. The authors find that where there is the possibility of supplier failure, for a long term contractual relationship, such dynamic contracts facilitate the realization of system optimal profits.

Although the practice of making trade-offs between the price stability offered by long term contracts and the speculative and flexibility benefits offered by short term contracts has been in place among practitioners for some time, especially among hi-tech companies (a classic example is the procurement risk management (PRM) initiative developed by Hewlett-Packard in mid 2000 (Nagali et al., (2008))), the stream of supply chain publications addressing this issue is quite recent. One work that appears to have led this pack is that of Cohen and Agrawal (1999) where the authors examine the contract selection problem between a long-term contract and a flexible short-term contract, and their results suggest that long-term contracts do not always dominate short-term contracts. In a very recent but related work, Li et al. (2009) provide conditions in which the long-term supplier is preferred.

Araman et al. (2000) consider a make-to-order risk neutral buyer that can purchase via a combination of a long-term contract and the spot market and the underlying source of uncertainty is the random spot price. They show that this combined use is beneficial to the buyer.

Motivated by Hewlett-Packard's procurement risk management (PRM) framework, Martinezde-Albeniz and Simchi-Levi (2005) propose a portfolio contract that maximizes a buyer's expected profit where the buyer can select from long term contract, option contracts, and direct spot market purchase. They show that this strategy potentially drives down profit uncertainty while increasing expected profits for the buyer.

Wu et al. (2002) considered contracting arrangements between a Stackelberg producing seller and one or more buyer(s) for a non-storable good, where the sole source of uncertainty is the spot market price for that good. Both the seller and buyer(s) can either enter into long-term contracts for the supply of a fixed quantity of output or can take recourse in the spot market. The seller selects her profit maximizing contract prices (reservation cost and execution cost per unit of capacity) anticipating how the buyer will react. The risk neutral buyer in turn determines his optimal reservation level, and at some future time, upon observing the spot price, determines the optimal allotment of his needs between the contract and the spot market. Their results revealed that the seller's optimal strategy is to set her execution cost as low as possible (i.e. reveal her production cost), but extract her margin from the buyer(s) using the reservation charge. Extensions to this work are presented in Wu and Kleindorfer (2005) and Wu et al. (2001).

2.1.2 Expected Utility Models

The risk averse decision maker is reluctant to accept an alternative with an uncertain outcome and requires an additional marginal reward (risk premium) to agree to take on the additional risk. One approach commonly used in economics to model the risk averse behavior of such a decision maker is to maximize his expected utility. Initiated by Daniel Bernoulli in 1738 as a resolution of the St. Petersburg paradox (involving infinite expected values), the first important use of the expected utility theory was that of Neumann and Morgenstern (1944) where the authors, using the assumption of expected utility maximization in their ground breaking formulation of game theory, formally proved expected utility maximization to be a rational decision maker has a non-decreasing utility function u(.) of the random outcome, and the decision maker seeks to optimize the expected value of this utility function. Suppose this decision maker's payoff at some future time, when viewed at the current decision time is a random X(v) subject to his control v in some range V. Then, the expected utility optimization model that addresses the DM's problem is given by:

$$w^* = \max_{v \in V} E[u(X(v))],$$
(2.2)

where E[u(X(v))] is the expected value of the nondecreasing, concave utility function of the DM's payoff. The exponential utility functions are the most widely used utility functions as they can conveniently model a broad range of risk attitudes (Corner and Corner, 1995).

As observed by Schoemaker, (1982), as a fallout of the work of Neumann and Morgenstern,

the expected utility theory has almost become a major paradigm in economics theory and the author gives an extensive discussion on existing expected utility theory models, prior to and subsequent to Neumann and Morgenstern, as well as discusses the setbacks of the expected utility theory. Expected utility theory is particularly criticized for the difficulties associated with obtaining the exact utility function for each decision maker. Further, as noted by Seifert et al. (2004), while expected utility maximization offers a great avenue for analyzing the direction of change induced by a hypothetical shift in the model parameters, the approach does not however, readily lend itself to the realization of closed form solutions, so it becomes less suitable where the objective is to explicitly characterize the optimal solution. I now proceed to discuss some documented works that have adopted expected utility optimization frameworks to address risk averse decision making in a volatile commodity price environment.

Addressing the buyer-seller relationship in B2B markets, Kleindorfer and Wu (2003) present a modeling framework for a three period time line in which contracting is done through a combination of options and forwards, and the suppliers are capacitated. The buyer's objective is to maximize expected utility subject to the available contracts, while the seller seeks to maximize expected profit, jointly obtained from sales in both the contract market and the spot market, subject to the available capacity. The authors provide an excellent review of economic and managerial frameworks that have been proposed in literature to explain the structure of contracting in B2B markets in capital intensive industries that are prone to quickly fluctuating prices, like the power sector, and they pay particular interest to those works that adopted real options theory and financial engineering in modeling buyer-seller contractual relationships.

Brusset (2005) propose conditions in which a capacity constrained supplier of an input service and a buyer of such service can choose from among three different transaction forms: spot procurement, minimum purchase commitment, and quantity flexibility contracts. Both the spot price of the input service and end-market demand are exogenous stochastic processes, and while knowledge of the characteristics of the demand distribution is exclusive to the buyer, spot price distribution is common knowledge. The author derived the utility for each transaction type and subsequently proposed conditions in which the buyer will choose minimum purchase commitment (MPC) contract over spot, quantity flexibility contract (QFC) over spot, MPC over QFC and vice versa. One of the limitations of this work is that it does not provide avenue for the buyer to have a mixed purchase strategy, and the spot market only serves as a recourse in the event of supplier capacity shortage.

2.1.3 Mean-Variance Models

Originally proposed in the Nobel-Prize-winning work of Markowitz (1952) to explain and guide investment behavior, the mean-variance optimization concept is now widely used in portfolio theory to model an investor's decision under risk. Specifically, Markowitz introduced the idea to achieve a portfolio that: (1) provides the minimum variance for a given expected return or more, and (2) provides the maximum expected return for a given variance or less. Suppose the commodity user's payoff at some future time, when viewed at the current decision time, is a random X(v)subject to his control v in some range V. Then, under the mean-variance maxim, the user will try to solve the problem

$$w^* = \max_{v \in V} (E[X(v)] - \beta \cdot V[X(v)]),$$
(2.3)

where E[X(v)] is the expected payoff and V[X(v)] is the variance of the payoff. Also, β is a positive constant that reflects the user's degree of risk averseness, and is considered to be the trade-off constant between the expected outcome and the variance of the outcome.

Sharpe's 1963 and 1971 simplified models of the Markowitz portfolio analysis technique

could be credited for paving the way for the profound acceptance of the mean-variance approach to risk averse decision making in academic corridors and among practitioners. In particular, Sharpe's 1971 linear programming approximation of the mean-variance model has led to several attempts at linearizing the portfolio optimization problem through computationally attractive alternative risk measures (e.g. Young, (1998), Mansini and Speranza, (1999), Ogryczak, (2000), and Ruszczynski and Vanderbei (2003)). The popularity of the mean-variance approach to risk averse decision making stems from the many advantages it offers. It reduces the decision problem to a parametric quadratic programming problem thus facilitating the explicit characterization of the optimal solutions. It provides an efficient platform for trade-off analysis between the expected value and the risk of the outcome.

The mean-variance concept is however not without its criticism, most of these stemming from its sensitivity to statistical errors (Grootveld and Hallerbach (1999), Goldfarb and Iyengar (2003)). Indeed, Markowitz (1952) himself emphasized that it is important to combine both statistical techniques and the judgement of experts in establishing reasonable probability beliefs for the security in consideration, as crucial to the success of the mean-variance approach is the accuracy of the probability beliefs arrived at for such security.

Critics further point to the imperfection of variance as the risk measure owing to its symmetric property, resulting in the equal treatment of over - performance and under - performance. This has motivated several researchers to seek asymmetric risk measures in place of variance for a more general mean-risk approach to decision making (e.g. Bawa and Lindenberg (1977), Harlow and Rao (1989), Konno, (1990), Konno and Yamazaki (19991), Markowitz et al. (1993), Ogryczak and Ruszczynski (1999), Uryasev, (2000), and Rockafellar and Uryasev (2000)).

The aforementioned shortcomings not withstanding, mean-variance approach to decision making enjoys a large following in inventory modeling as the mean-variance theory is found to be more general than the expected utility theory. As stated by Bar-Shira and Finkelshtain (1999): "...The increased generality stems from the fact that the class of decision-makers whose risk preferences are representable by a mean standard deviation utility function is broader than the corresponding class of individuals whose risk preferences are representable by an expected utility function. This is because the mean standard deviation decision theory is capable of accommodating various nonlinearities in the probabilities, including the rank-dependent expected utility theory". I now proceed to discuss those works that have utilized the mean-variance rule in addressing decision making under commodity price uncertainty. Tsiang (1999) also provides justification for the mean-variance approach.

Seifert et al. (2004) analyzed optimal procurement strategies for a buyer faced with both demand and purchase price uncertainties for a given commodity, and averse to some variance of profit. This buyer can satisfy his commodity needs through a contract agreement with an uncapacitated supplier and come the day demand is to be realized, if realized demand turns out to be in excess of on-hand inventory, the excess demand is purchased from spot, otherwise, unmet demand is lost. On the other hand, if realized demand is less than on-hand inventory, the excess inventory is salvaged in the spot market at the ongoing spot price, otherwise, the excess is salvaged at some non-negative unit price less than the contract's fixed unit price.

Martinez-de Albeniz and Simchi-Levi (2006) considered a single-period inventory setting for a manufacturer faced with both demand and spot price uncertainty for the input material. The manufacturer can choose from a portfolio of option contracts and has access to the spot market to satisfy his needs. They show that there exists an efficient frontier bounded by the maximum expectation portfolio (selected by a risk-neutral buyer), and the minimum variance portfolio (selected by the buyer with infinite risk aversion).

Dong and Liu (2007) considered the equilibrium forward contract of a non-storable com-
modity and both the supplier and the manufacturer can trade in a spot market for the commodity. The final product demand, final product sale price, and the component spot price are all possibly correlated random variables and the two risk averse players have mean-variance preferences over their risky profits. The authors argued that the risk hedging benefit from a forward contract is what justifies its prevalence despite the availability of liquid spot markets.

2.2 Why Forward Contracts to Hedge Commodity Price Risk?

The reader might be apt to ask that given the popularity of derivative instruments such as futures, options, swaps, and commodity-linked notes in hedging price risks, what informs our stance that research on price volatility driven contracts is crucial to today's supply chain management efforts? Indeed it is true that derivative usage is an age long concept and there are tons of research papers, particularly in the finance literature, on how derivatives could be used to manage price uncertainty. However, the one thing that is clear is that while financial derivative tools have been found to enjoy high levels of appeal; even with the increasing liberalization and globalization of the commodity market, participation in the commodity derivative market is growing at a rather slow pace, particularly in the developing countries (Varangis and Larson, (1996)). In a study on derivative usage by non-financial firms in the US and Germany for instance, Bodnar and Gebhardt (1998), found that commodity derivatives came a distant third to foreign currency and interest rate derivatives in both countries.

As explained by Varangis and Larson, (1996), the hesitation by firms to participate in commodity derivatives market is largely informed by the challenges involved with overcoming certain barriers to using these markets. These include legal and regulatory barriers, policy barriers and government intervention, market know-how and awareness, basis risk, creditworthiness, and liquidity issues due to restrictions on the length of time and transaction volume. In addition, there is the need for the firm to have on hand, the cash for the payment of a premium for the purchase of options and the deposit of margins for the use of futures, so cash flow becomes an issue as well. Indeed, the criticality of liquidity and cash flow to commodity derivative market participation is evidenced in a study by Haushalter (2000) on hedging policies of oil and gas producers between 1992 and 1994, where it was found that firms with greater financial leverage used derivative markets more extensively than the smaller firms. With these barriers to the commodity derivative markets, it comes at no surprise therefore that managing price uncertainty by way of supply contracts remains the common practice among commodity users today and the following is a discussion on some of the most relevant works documented in this area, and these works also serve as excellent review sources of such supply contracts literature.

CHAPTER 3

THE PURCHASING, AND PRICING PROBLEM

3.1 **Problem Description**

Let the current time be t_0 . I consider a risk-averse commodity user faced with a known end market demand δ at a future time t_1 . As an example, the commodity user could be a major oil refiner with relatively stable aggregate demand for its wholesale customers. A spot market exists for the commodity. Suppose the current spot price is π_0 and the spot price at time t_1 is a random Π_1 . The commodity user realizes ρ dollars in revenue per unit of the commodity. I suppose that the commodity user has no long-term storage facility, and the time needed for the acquired commodity to be processed at the user is negligible. The practicality of non-storability models for commodities, particularly the energy commodities, has been discussed at great lengths by Wu et al. (2002), and Kleindorfer and Wu (2003). The commodity user has two procurement options to consider, namely, either to purchase his commodity needs via contract with a supplier, who will deliver the contracted quantity at time t_1 , or to purchase the balance of his needs via the spot market at time t_1 . I do not prohibit the commodity user from buying more than his input commodity needs through contract, and selling off the excess to the spot market.

Let us denote the commodity user's purchase from the supplier by x. If $x \le \delta$, the user must purchase the entire balance $\delta - x$ from the spot market. If $x > \delta$, he must sell the excess $x - \delta$ to the spot market. In my modeling approach, I view the spot market transaction volume for the commodity user as taking on a positive value in the event that he buys from spot, and a negative value in the event that he sells to spot. I denote this spot market transaction volume by y, where y is a free variable. The no storage condition implies that at all times, we should have $x + y = \delta$. But, to avoid solving a constrained optimization problem, I assume that the commodity user incurs a huge cost ζ per squared unit of deviation of (x + y) from δ . Further, the commodity user should not be able to place a negative order through his contract. That is, we should have $x \ge 0$. However, I start by relaxing this non-negativity constraint on x, and study the conditions, if any, under which it would be violated. The question the commodity user seeks to address is that of how much he should purchase through contract and how much he should purchase from or sell to the spot market.

In a bid to mitigate his exposure to the spot market price volatility, the commodity user hedges his risk by entering into a contract with his supplier. There are two sides to this contract:

(1) At the initiation of their business relationship, the supplier agrees to invest in a dedicated capacity ω , available to be called upon by the commodity user in each purchasing period throughout the life of the contract. Under this arrangement, if the commodity user requests exactly ω in a typical period of length $(t_1 - t_0)$, then the supplier's production cost is simply $\kappa\omega$, where κ is the per unit cost of production, and the supplier absorbs the entire cost of production. If however, the commodity user requests a quantity $x \neq \omega$, then the supplier's production cost takes on the quadratic form $\kappa x + \gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^2$, where γ is the additional cost incurred per squared unit of deviation from the dedicated capacity, ω . The $\gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^2$ portion is incurred as a result of the supplier having to temporarily expand capacity at the last minute or not being able to reach the full economy of scale corresponding to her capacity. It is agreed that this $\gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^2$ cost component will be completely absorbed by the commodity user, and could therefore be viewed as the penalty the commodity user incurs for upsetting the planned run of the supplier's production.

The idea of penalizing the buyer for under-used capacity in a pure forward contracting framework (i.e. no capacity reservation fee) where the underlying source of uncertainty is the random spot price of the input part has been adopted by Araman et al. (2000). The authors considered where in the bid to account for any losses she may incur due to capacity under-utilization, the supplier charges the buyer a higher unit price in the event that the buyer eventually orders less than the reserved capacity. In contrast to our work, capacity-overusage is not an option in the aforementioned.

(2) The actual purchase contract through which the commodity user places an order with the supplier: under this arrangement, at the decision time t_0 , the commodity user enters into a one-time agreement with the supplier for delivery of a given quantity of the commodity at t_1 . Here, the contract price is structured as an affine function of the spot price π_1 realized at t_1 :

$$p(\pi_1) = \alpha \pi_1 + z. \tag{3.1}$$

I suppose that there is an already established agreement on the non-negative α , reflecting the degree of exposure to spot market conditions desired by the commodity user under the contract. I suppose further that the supplier requires that α never exceed 0.5 (the reason for this will become obvious when we derive the optimal solution to the supplier's problem). In other words, $\alpha \in [0, 0.5]$. The corresponding fixed-component term z is determined by the supplier based on her calculation of the random spot price Π_1 . Thus at time t_0 , while there is a known component z to the contract price, there also exists a random component to the price which floats with the spot market price. Under this "floating" contract, I assume that payment is settled at the time t_1 when delivery of the goods is made and the spot price has been realized as some π_1 . I adopt the mean-variance approach described in chapter 2 to model the commodity user's aversion to risk.

3.2 Problem Formulation

Suppose the commodity user decides to contract an x quantity from the supplier and purchase a y quantity from the spot market, the realized price of the contract offered by the supplier is π , and the realized spot market price at t_1 is π_1 . Then, the commodity user's payoff $f^{u0}(x, y, \pi, \pi_1)$ will be as follows:

$$f^{u0}(x, y, \pi, \pi_1) = \rho \cdot (x+y) - \zeta \cdot (x+y-\delta)^2 - \pi x - \pi_1 y - \gamma \cdot (x-\omega)^2.$$
(3.2)

Here, $\rho \cdot (x + y)$ is the revenue the user can earn, $\zeta \cdot (x + y - \delta)^2$ is the huge penalty incurred to the user when (x + y) is different from the user's demand δ , πx is the amount the user has to pay to the supplier according to the contract, $\pi_1 y$ is the amount the user has to pay to the spot market, and $\gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^2$ is the amount the user has to pay to the supplier when the contracted quantity is different from the supplier's designed capacity ω .

Suppose the supplier has decided the z in the contract form (3.1), and the commodity user has made decisions on x and y, then, when the realized spot market price is π_1 , the user earn $f^u(x, y, z, \pi_1)$, where

$$f^{u}(x, y, z, \pi_{1}) = f^{u0}(x, y, \alpha \pi_{1} + z, \pi_{1})$$

= $\rho \cdot (x + y) - \zeta \cdot (x + y - \delta)^{2} - x \cdot (\alpha \pi_{1} + z) - (3.3)$
 $\pi_{1}y - \gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^{2}.$

After some algebra, we may work out that

$$f^{u}(x, y, z, \pi_{1}) = f^{u}_{0}(x, y, z) + f^{u}_{1}(x, y) \cdot \pi_{1},$$
(3.4)

where

,

$$\begin{cases} f_0^u(x, y, z) = \rho \cdot (x + y) - \zeta \cdot (x + y - \delta)^2 - xz - \gamma \cdot (x - \omega)^2, \\ f_1^u(x, y) = -(\alpha x + y). \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

The risk-averse commodity user's objective function $f^{u}(x, y, z)$ is therefore determined by

$$f^{u}(x, y, z) = E[f^{u}(x, y, z, \Pi_{1})] - \beta \cdot V[f^{u}(x, y, z, \Pi_{1})].$$
(3.6)

Plugging (3.4) into (3.6), we can, through algebra (see equation (6.58) in Appendix B), obtain that

$$f^{u}(x,y,z) = f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + \mu \cdot f^{u}_{1}(x,y) - \beta \sigma^{2} \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x,y))^{2}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where I have used μ to denote the mean $E[\Pi_1]$ of Π_1 and σ^2 the variance $V[\Pi_1]$ of Π_1 . When (3.5) is further plugged into (3.7), we may get

$$f^{u}(x, y, z) = -(\beta \sigma^{2} \alpha^{2} + \gamma + \zeta) \cdot x^{2} - (\zeta + \beta \sigma^{2}) \cdot y^{2} - 2(\zeta + \beta \sigma^{2} \alpha) \cdot xy - xz + (\rho + 2\zeta \delta + 2\gamma \omega - \alpha \mu) \cdot x + (\rho + 2\zeta \delta - \mu) \cdot y - (\zeta \delta^{2} + \gamma \omega^{2}).$$

$$(\beta + 2\zeta \delta - \mu) \cdot y - (\zeta \delta^{2} + \gamma \omega^{2}).$$
(3.8)

Given the contract coefficient z, the commodity user will solve $\max_{x,y} f^u(x, y, z)$ to obtain the optimal contract quantity $x^u(z)$ and optimal spot market purchase quantity $y^u(z)$.

When the commodity user's ordering quantity is x while the realized contract price is π , the supplier's profit realized at t_1 is $f^s(x, \pi)$, where

$$f^{s}(x,\pi) = (\pi - \kappa) \cdot x.$$
(3.9)

Recall that κ is the per unit production cost charged to the supplier. At time t_0 , the risk-neutral supplier seeks to maximize her expected profit by choosing a proper value for the contract coefficient z, given her anticipation of the commodity user's response $x^u(z)$. Hence, the supplier's objective function is $F^s(z)$, with

$$F^{s}(z) = E[f^{s}(x^{u}(z), \alpha \Pi_{1} + z)] = (\alpha \mu - \kappa + z) \cdot x^{u}(z).$$
(3.10)

The supplier will solve $\max_z F^s(z)$ to obtain the equilibrium contract coefficient z^s . Therefore, the commodity user's equilibrium contract quantity will be $x^u = x^u(z^s)$ and his equilibrium spot purchase quantity $y^u = y^u(z^s)$.

3.3 Analysis

In solving the commodity user's problem, I adopt a two-step approach. In the first step, we fix x and then proceed to solve for the $y^u(x, z)$ that maximizes $f^u(x, y, z)$ defined in (3.8). It is easy to see that $f^u(x, y, z)$ is quadratic in y with a negative second order coefficient. The optimal spot market purchase, $y^u(x, z)$, can therefore be obtained by setting the first order derivative of $f^u(x, y, z)$ with respect to y to zero, i.e.,

$$\partial f^u(x,y,z)/\partial y \mid_{y=y^u(x,z)} = 0. \tag{3.11}$$

From the above, we obtain that $y^u(x, z)$ is independent of z, and hence can be written as $y^u(x)$:

$$y^{u}(x) = (-2(\zeta - \beta\sigma^{2}\alpha) \cdot x + \rho - \mu + 2\zeta\delta)/(2 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta))$$

$$= (\zeta/(\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2})) \cdot (\delta - x) + (\rho - \mu - 2\beta\sigma^{2}x\alpha)/(2 \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2})).$$
(3.12)

It is obvious from (3.12) that, when the off-demand penalty ζ approaches $+\infty$, the spot purchase quantity $y^u(x)$ will tend to $\delta - x$. In the second step, we substitute $y^u(x)$ of (3.12) into (3.8). The

commodity user's objective function will become

$$G^{u}(x,z) = f^{u}(x,y^{u}(x),z)$$

$$= -[\gamma + \zeta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} - (\zeta^{2}/(\beta\sigma^{2}+\zeta)) \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}] \cdot x^{2} - [z-\rho]$$

$$- 2\gamma\omega - 2\zeta\delta + \rho\alpha + (\zeta \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot (\rho-\mu+2\zeta\delta))/(\zeta+\beta\sigma^{2}) + 2\zeta\delta\alpha] \cdot x + ((\rho-\mu+2\zeta\delta)^{2})/(4 \cdot (\zeta+\beta\sigma^{2})) - \gamma\omega^{2} - \zeta\delta^{2}$$
(3.13)

Again, we observe that $G^u(x, z)$ is quadratic in x with a negative second order coefficient. We can therefore establish $x^u(z)$ by setting

$$\partial G^{u}(x,z)/\partial x \mid_{x=x^{u}(z)} = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

from which we obtain

$$x^{u}(z) = [-(\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) \cdot z + (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2}\rho + \zeta\mu + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta\delta) + 2\gamma\omega \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta)]/[2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta)].$$
(3.15)

Substituting (3.15) into the supplier's objective function (3.10), we obtain

$$F^{s}(z) = \left[-(\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2})/(2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}))\right] \cdot z^{2}$$

$$+ \left[(\beta\sigma^{2}\rho \cdot (1-\alpha) + (\kappa - \alpha\mu) \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}) + \zeta\mu \cdot (1-\alpha)\right]$$

$$+ 2\gamma\omega \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)\right]$$

$$/(2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}))] \cdot z \qquad (3.16)$$

$$- \left[(\kappa - \alpha\mu) \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2}\rho \cdot (1-\alpha) + \zeta\mu \cdot (1-\alpha)\right]$$

$$+ 2\gamma\omega \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)\right]$$

$$/[2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2})].$$

It is clear from (3.16) that $F^{s}(z)$ is quadratic in z with a negative second order coefficient. We can therefore set

$$dF^{s}(z)/dz \mid_{z=z^{s}} = 0, (3.17)$$

from which we may obtain

$$z^{s} = [\kappa \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2} + \zeta) + \beta \sigma^{2} \rho \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \zeta \mu \cdot (1 - 2\alpha) + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2} + \zeta) + 2\beta \sigma^{2} \zeta \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) - \beta \sigma^{2} \mu \alpha] / [2 \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2} + \zeta)].$$
(3.18)

Plugging (3.18) into (3.15), we obtain

$$x^{u} = x^{u}(z^{s}) = [\beta\sigma^{2}\rho \cdot (1-\alpha) - \kappa \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) + \zeta\mu + 2\gamma\omega \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta\delta \cdot (1-\alpha) + \beta\sigma^{2}\alpha\mu]$$

$$/[4 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + \gamma \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta))].$$
(3.19)

Plugging the above into (3.12), we obtain

$$y^{u} = y^{u}(x^{u}(z^{s}))$$

$$= (\rho - \mu + 2\zeta\delta)/(2 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta)) - 2 \cdot (\zeta + \beta\sigma^{2}\alpha) \cdot [\beta\sigma^{2}\rho \cdot (1 - \alpha) - (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) + \zeta\mu + 2\gamma\omega \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \beta\sigma^{2}\alpha\mu]/$$

$$[8 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta) \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2}\zeta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + \gamma \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} + \zeta))]$$
(3.20)

If we let ζ go to its intended value $+\infty$, we will have

$$\begin{cases} x^{u} = [\mu - \kappa + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma\omega]/[4\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + 4\gamma], \\ y^{u} = \delta - x^{u} = \delta - [\mu - \kappa + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma\omega]/ \\ [4\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + 4\gamma], \\ z^{s} = [\kappa + \mu \cdot (1 - 2\alpha) + 2\gamma\omega + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)]/2. \end{cases}$$
(3.21)

When ζ takes its limit value, we see that $x^u + y^u = \delta$ is always maintained. Also, it is reasonable to assume that $\kappa < \mu$, i.e., it costs the supplier less to produce a unit item than for the item to be purchased from the spot market. If so, we may observe from (3.21) that x^u will never assume negative values. If we substitute z^s of (3.21) in the supplier's contract price $p(\pi_1)$ of (3.1), we arrive at the following:

$$p(\pi_1) = (\kappa + \mu)/2 + \gamma \omega + \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha).$$
(3.22)

From (3.22), it becomes obvious that $p(\pi_1)$ is decreasing in α , so that the supplier's opportunity to charge the commodity user a premium over the expected spot price deteriorates with α . Thus, as α gets very large, the more the supplier runs the risk of realizing a contract price that hardly compensates for her unit cost of production, κ . For these reasons, we assume that as a matter of policy, the supplier is not willing to entertain an $\alpha > 0.5$.

Let E^u be the commodity user's expected profit under equilibrium, V^u be the variance of his profit under equilibrium, E^s be the supplier's expected profit under equilibrium, and E^{sc} be the total supply chain expected profit under equilibrium. From (3.4), we may find that

$$E^{u} = E[f^{u}(x^{u}, y^{u}, z^{s}, \Pi_{1})] = f^{u}_{0}(x^{u}, y^{u}, z^{s}) + \mu \cdot f^{u}_{1}(x^{u}, y^{u}).$$
(3.23)

If we plug (3.21) into (3.23), we can get a closed form expression for E^u . We opt not to present the result here due to its excessive length. Using (3.5), (3.6), and (3.7), we may derive that

$$V^{u} = \sigma^{2} \cdot (f_{1}^{u}(x^{u}, y^{u}))^{2} = \sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha x^{u} + y^{u})^{2}, \qquad (3.24)$$

which, after substitutions for x^u and y^u from (3.21), becomes

$$V^{u} = \sigma^{2} \cdot [\delta/2 + (2\gamma\delta - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2})]^{2}.$$
 (3.25)

Substituting x^u of (3.21) in the supplier's expected profit of (3.10), we have

$$E^{s} = F^{s}(z^{s}) = [\mu - \kappa + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma\omega]^{2} / [8 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + \gamma)].$$
(3.26)

From (3.5), (3.10), and y^u of (3.21), we may obtain

$$E^{sc} = E^u + E^s = \rho \delta - \gamma \cdot (x^u - \omega)^2 - \mu \cdot (\delta - x^u) - \kappa x^u.$$
(3.27)

3.4 A Comparative Statics Study

I now study how x^u , y^u , and z^s are influenced by the problem's parameters. According to (3.21) through (3.26), the following is a list of relevant parameters:

 α -the degree of exposure to spot price volatility sought by the commodity user under the contract;

 β -the commodity user's degree of risk averseness;

 γ -the severity of the off-capacity penalty that is passed from the supplier to the commodity user;

 ω -the capacity that the supplier dedicates to the commodity user; and,

 μ -the expected value of the spot price; and,

 σ^2 -the variance of the spot price.

Besides, the following two parameters are subject to scaling:

 δ -the fixed demand level; and,

 κ -the supplier's unit production cost.

3.4.1 Effects of α , the Contract's Exposure to Spot Price

My findings concerning α can be summarized as follows.

Proposition 1 (a) Define α_0 so that

$$\alpha_0 = 1 - \frac{\sqrt{(\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega)^2 + 4\beta\sigma^2\delta^2\gamma - (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega)}}{2\beta\sigma^2\delta}$$

When the user's exposure to spot price under the contract $\alpha < \alpha_0$, his equilibrium contract ordering level x^u will be increasing in α ; otherwise, x^u will be decreasing in α .

(b) Define ω_0 so that

$$\omega_0 = \frac{\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)}{\gamma + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2} - \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\gamma}$$

When $\alpha - \alpha_0$ and $\omega - \omega_0$ are of opposite signs, the total supply chain equilibrium expected profit E^{sc} will be increasing in α , and decreasing in α otherwise.

(c) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s is always decreasing in α .

(d) Define α_1 so that

$$\alpha_1 = 1 - \frac{2\gamma\delta}{\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega}.$$

The supplier's equilibrium expected profit E^s is increasing in α when $\alpha < \alpha_1$, and decreasing in

 α otherwise.

Obviously, the more exposure to spot price that the commodity user has under the contract, the closer the price variability associated with the contract gets to that of spot, and as such, the less the opportunity for the supplier to leverage contract price stability in charging higher prices. In addition, the user seeking a high degree of exposure to spot price under the contract, reflects a low level of hesitation on his part to engage in direct spot purchase. This explains the observed decrease in his equilibrium contract ordering level x^u for high values of α (i.e. $\alpha > \alpha_0$). Where the sought exposure is low (i.e. $\alpha < \alpha_0$), so that the user's hesitation to spot exposure is high, the accompanying reduction in the supplier's contract charge as $\alpha < \alpha_0$ increases serves as an added incentive for the user to increase his contract order. The observed increase in E^s as $\alpha < \alpha_1$ increases implies that for the supplier, the growth in the equilibrium volume of order the user routes her way is guaranteed to more than compensate for her reduced equilibrium contract charge.

Given its lengthy expression, analyzing the effect of the problem parameters on the user's equilibrium expected profit E^u is a cumbersome exercise. Hence, I have opted for a numerical approach in conducting such an analysis. Also, while the effects of all other parameters on the user's equilibrium variance of profit, V^u are analytically tractable, studying the effect of α on V^u is analytically demanding. The first numerical example (results presented in Figure 3.1) is used to illustrate the effect of α on V^u and E^u . Varying α , we set $\beta = 0.0005$, $\gamma = 0.3$, $\delta = \omega = 100$, $\mu = 58$, $\sigma^2 = 315$, $\kappa = 30$, and $\rho = 100$. Both V^u and E^u are found to increase in α . Obviously, the higher the value of α , the less price stability the contract offers, thus the observed increase in V^u . Also, since an increased α reduces the premium placed on contract price stability, the supplier is forced to reduce her contract charge to better compete with the spot market. This explains the observed increase in E^u .

Let us now focus on the effect of α on the total supply chain equilibrium expected profit E^{sc} .

It is easy to show that ω_0 is very small so that $\omega > \omega_0$ is a condition that holds most often. Now,

$$\omega_0 = \frac{\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)}{\gamma + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2} - \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\gamma}.$$
(3.28)

We see from (3.28) that as γ tends to zero, ω_0 tends to $-\infty$. As γ becomes very large compared to $2\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)^2$,

$$\omega_0 \approx \delta \cdot \left(\frac{\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)}{\gamma}\right) - \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\gamma}.$$
(3.29)

Since $\alpha \in [0, 0.5]$, if γ is very large compared to $2\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)^2$, then γ will be very large compared to $\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)$, so that ω_0 approaches very small values. Therefore, for practical parameter values, $\omega > \omega_0$, so that realistically, as $\alpha < \alpha_0$ increases, E^{sc} increases. I now proceed to numerically compare the $\alpha > 0$ contract to a fixed price contract ($\alpha = 0$) on the basis of the total supply chain equilibrium expected profit E^{sc} of (3.27). In this study, I present three different scenarios of parameter settings. In the first scenario, all parameters of the problem are the same as in Figure 3.1. In scenario 2, $\beta = 0.001$, $\gamma = 0.7$, $\omega = 50$, and all other parameters are kept the same as in scenario 1, while in the third scenario, all the parameter values of scenario 2 remain the same with the exception of σ^2 , ω , and γ which are respectively set to 472, 30, and 0.2.

In all instances, the total supply chain equilibrium expected profit E^{sc} was found to be increasing in α when $\alpha < \alpha_0$, and decreasing in α otherwise (see Figure 3.2). These results suggest that improvements in the total supply chain profits can be expected when higher values of α result in higher order quantities that the user routes to the supplier. Further, it can be verified from the plot that for each of the 3 scenarios, the percentage improvement an $\alpha = \alpha_0$ contract has over a fixed price contract ($\alpha = 0$) on the total supply chain equilibrium expected profit, E^{sc} , is respectively 9.7%, 1.6%, and 5.9%. It can also be observed that for scenarios 1, and 3, $\alpha_0 > 0.5$. Hence, while there are instances where $\alpha_0 > 0.5$ might lead to the maximum total supply chain profit, the supplier's unwillingness to be exposed to the risk of dramatic reductions in profit inhibits the realization of such maximum supply chain profit.

Thus, most importantly, for small enough α , i.e. $\alpha < \alpha_0$, the analytical and numerical results reveal that the floating contract price setting, $\alpha \pi_1 + z$, outperforms a fixed price contract when viewed in the context of the total supply chain equilibrium expected profits. The analytical results further show that the floating contract price is beneficial to the supplier as well when $\alpha < \alpha_1$. Indeed, by offering the commodity user reasonable measure of exposure to spot market conditions under the contract, the supplier is able to capture the user's desire to take advantage of the occurrence of a downward swing in spot price. By so doing, the supplier is better positioned to curtail the attractiveness of spot market purchase to the user.

3.4.2 Effects of β , the Commodity User's Degree of Risk Averseness

Concerning β , my findings are summarized below.

Proposition 2 (a) Define γ_0 so that

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha)}{2 \cdot (\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))}.$$

When the severity of off-capacity penalty $\gamma < \gamma_0$, the user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u is decreasing in his level of risk aversion β while his equilibrium variance of profit V^u is increasing in β . When $\gamma > \gamma_0$, the trends are reversed.

(b) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s is increasing in β .

(c) Define β_0 so that

$$\beta_0 = \frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\gamma \cdot (2\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))}{2\sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2}.$$

The supplier's equilibrium expected profit E^s is decreasing in β when $\beta < \beta_0$, and increasing in β otherwise.

A corollary of this result is that although the commodity user will naturally get increasingly concerned about reducing variance of profits as his degree of risk aversion β increases, when $\gamma < \gamma_0$ however, his urgency at gaining expected profits outweight his urgency to reduce variance of profits. To explain this result, let us first derive the incremental cost Δ that the commodity user incurs to purchase an additional unit from contract. The total expected cost to the commodity user to place a contract order is given by

$$C^{u} = (\alpha \mu + z^{s}) \cdot x^{u} + \gamma \cdot (x^{u} - \omega)^{2}.$$
(3.30)

Therefore,

$$\Delta = \partial C^u / \partial x^u = \alpha \mu + z^s + 2\gamma \cdot (x^u - \omega).$$
(3.31)

Substituting (3.21) for x^u and z^s , Δ reduces to

$$\Delta = (\mu + \kappa)/2 - \gamma \omega + (2\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma \omega - 2\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (\alpha - 1))) /(4\gamma + 4\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2) - \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (\alpha - 1).$$
(3.32)

Since

$$\frac{\partial \Delta}{\partial \gamma} = \left(\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2 \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\beta \sigma^2 \delta (1 - \alpha) - 2\beta \sigma^2 \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2)\right) (2 \cdot (\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 + \gamma)^2) > 0,$$
(3.33)

- - -

it is clear that Δ increases in γ . Now, let us consider the case where $\gamma = \gamma_0$. It is easy to verify that (3.32) reduces to

$$\Delta_{(\gamma=\gamma_0)} = \mu + \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1-\alpha). \tag{3.34}$$

Since Δ increases in γ , it is thus obvious that for $\gamma > \gamma_0$, the incremental contract cost, $\Delta_{(\gamma > \gamma_0)}$, is always greater than μ , the expected unit spot price of the commodity. Under this circumstance, a risk neutral commodity user ($\beta = 0$), would consider the contract deal to be less attractive than the spot market and would therefore prefer to order his commodity needs through the latter. However, as his risk aversion grows, the more of an issue price volatility becomes to him, and the more order he places with contract.

On the other hand, $\gamma < \gamma_0$, leads to $\Delta_{(\gamma < \gamma_0)} < \mu + \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)$. This implies a $\Delta_{(\gamma < \gamma_0)} < \mu$ for the risk neutral commodity user. This risk neutral user will therefore prefer to place his needs through contract. Notice that Δ grows with β . Thus as the commodity user's degree of risk aversion increases, the deteriorating offer he receives from the supplier increases the possibility of the contract price turning out higher than the spot price. Since the low $\gamma < \gamma_0$ penalty affords the user a higher flexibility to place an off-capacity contract order, the consequence is an increased inclination of the user to consider spot purchase in response to the higher contract charge that accompanies an increased aversion to risk.

We see also from Proposition 2 that while the supplier will always seek to take advantage of her client's spot market shy behavior by charging higher prices for higher degrees of risk aversion, she however does so to her loss when the commodity user's aversion to risk, β , is low (i.e. when $\beta < \beta_0$). Therefore, the supplier's opportunistic response to her client's aversion to risk could unduly drive the user into the spot market with the effect of a reduced bottom line profit for the supplier. I use the following numerical example (results presented in Figures 3.3 and 3.4) to illustrate the effect of β on E^u . Varying β and setting $\alpha = 0.4$ while keeping all other parameters the same as in Figure 3.1, we first set $\gamma = 0.309 > \gamma_0 = 0.209$ and then set $\gamma = 0.159 < \gamma_0$. It can be observed from Figures 3.3 and 3.4 that in both instances, E^u decreases with β . This trend can be directly traced to the deteriorating contract deal as well as the increased hesitation of the user to spot purchase as he gets more risk averse.

3.4.3 Effects of γ , the Severity of the Off-capacity Penalty

Concerning γ , we have the following result.

Proposition 3 (a) The user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u is decreasing in γ , the severity of the off-capacity penalty.

(b) Define γ_1 so that

$$\gamma_1 = \frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\delta\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2}{2 \cdot (2\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))}.$$

 $\gamma = \gamma_1$ results in a purchasing portfolio with zero standard deviation for the user, and his equilibrium variance of profit V^u is decreasing in γ when $\gamma < \gamma_1$, and increasing in γ otherwise.

- (c) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s is increasing in γ .
- (d) Define γ_2 so that

$$\gamma_2 = \frac{\mu - \kappa + 2\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\delta - 2\omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))}{2\omega}.$$

The supplier's equilibrium expected profit E^s is decreasing in γ when $\gamma < \gamma_2$, and increasing in γ otherwise.

The commodity user's increased inclination to consider spot market purchase for higher values of γ is triggered by the supplier's opportunistic response to the reduced contract flexibility that a higher γ affords the user. This increased spot market exposure for higher values of γ explains the observed increase in the user's equilibrium variance of profit V^u . When $\gamma = \gamma_1$, it can be verified that $x^u = \delta/(1 - \alpha)$. Since it's been established that x^u decreases in γ ; $\gamma < \gamma_1$ implies $x^u > \delta/(1 - \alpha)$, so that at the very least (when $\alpha = 0$), the user will purchase his entire needs δ from contract while for a nonzero α , $x^u > \delta$. As this $\gamma < \gamma_1$ penalty increases, the less incentive the user has to purchase beyond his actual needs δ from contract with the hope of selling the excess at a spot price premium in the future time t_1 , so he reduces the excess contract purchase. The user's reduced sell-to-spot market transaction volume explains the observed decrease in V^u as $\gamma < \gamma_1$ increases.

It can easily be verified that when $\gamma = \gamma_2$, the equilibrium strategy for the commodity user is to purchase the entire capacity ω that the supplier has dedicated to him. This implies that $x^u < \omega$ when $\gamma > \gamma_2$. It must mean that for the supplier, a $\gamma > \gamma_2$ guarantees that the drop in x^u will always be more than compensated by the gain in z^s as γ increases, so that her equilibrium expected profit E^s is always increasing in $\gamma > \gamma_2$ as our results show.

On the other hand, a low γ (i.e. $\gamma < \gamma_2$), implies $x^u > \omega$. The implication of this is that when $\gamma < \gamma_2$, the commodity user will always seek to purchase beyond the dedicated capacity from contract, but as this γ increases, the less incentive he has to do so, resulting in loss of revenue for the supplier. This explains why E^s is decreasing in $\gamma < \gamma_2$.

I now present a numerical example to illustrate the effect of γ on the commodity user's equilibrium expected profit, E^u . Keeping all other parameters of Figure 3.4 the same, it can be verified that γ_1 =0.019. Varying the value of γ from 0.014 < γ_1 upwards, it is observed (see Figure 3.5) that E^u is decreasing in γ and this can be readily attributed to the supplier's opportunistic reaction to higher values of γ . Therefore from Figure 3.5, we see that a reduced penalty γ improves the commodity user's efficient frontier by facilitating the realization of higher equilibrium expected profits at lower equilibrium variances of profits.

Lastly, from equation (3.27), it can be easily observed that when $x^u < \omega$ (which implies $\gamma > \gamma_2$), the supply chain equilibrium expected profit E^{sc} is strictly decreasing in γ . Thus, while $\gamma > \gamma_2$ penalties lead to improved expected profits for the supplier, their deteriorating effects on the user's expected profits however are such that the overall supply chain expected profits will always take a plunge.

3.4.4 Effects of ω , the Capacity Reserved at the Supplier

The following is what we can firmly say concerning ω .

Proposition 4 (a) The user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u increases in ω , the capacity he reserves with the supplier.

(b) Define ω_1 so that

$$\omega_1 = rac{4\delta\gamma - (1-lpha)\cdot(\mu-\kappa) + 2\deltaeta\sigma^2\cdot(1-lpha)^2}{2\gamma\cdot(1-lpha)}.$$

 $\omega = \omega_1$ yields a zero standard deviation purchasing portfolio for the user. The user's equilibrium variance of profit V^u is decreasing in ω when $\omega < \omega_1$, and increasing in ω otherwise. (c) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s and her equilibrium expected profit E^s are increasing in ω .

It can be expected that a higher reserved capacity would compel the user to raise his contract order since among other considerations, the user seeks to minimize the penalty he incurs for capacity under-usage. Thus by investing in a higher capacity for the user, the supplier is better able to curtail spot market competition and increase her earnings potential.

Recall that when we studied the effect of the off-capacity penalty γ on the user's equilibrium rium strategy, $\gamma \geq \gamma_2$ leads to $x^u \leq \omega$. In studying the effect of ω on the user's equilibrium expected profit E^u , of particular interest is where the user's equilibrium response is to order no more than the reserved capacity from contract. I keep all parameters the same as in Figure 3.5, but set $\gamma = 0.4 > \gamma_2 = 0.354$, and vary ω . We would expect that since higher values of ω would serve to reduce spot market competition for the supplier, the user's expected profit should deteriorate as ω increases. The results of this numerical study (presented in Figure 3.6) are consistent with this expectation.

3.4.5 Effects of μ , the Expected Spot Price of the Commodity

Concerning μ , the following is true.

Proposition 5 (a) The user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u increases in μ , the expected spot price of the commodity.

(b) Define μ_0 so that

$$\mu_0 = \frac{4\delta\gamma - (1-\alpha) \cdot (2\gamma\omega - \kappa) + 2\delta\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)^2}{1-\alpha}$$

When $\mu = \mu_0$, a zero standard deviation purchasing portfolio is realized for the user. The user's equilibrium variance of profit V^u is decreasing in μ when $\mu < \mu_0$ and increasing in μ otherwise. Further, when $\mu > \mu_0$, the user's equilibrium strategy is always to place a contract order, $x^u > \delta$, with the hope of selling the excess units at a spot price premium in the future time t_1 .

(c) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s and her equilibrium expected profit E^s are increasing in μ .

That the user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u increases in μ comes as no surprise since for the same spot price variance, a higher expected spot price increases the likelihood of the realized spot price turning out to be greater than the contract price, and the commodity user's natural response would be to increase his contract purchase. For the supplier, the reduced spot market threat owing to an increased spot price premium gives her the flexibility to increase her contract charge with less worry of losing her share of the user's needs to the spot market.

To study the effect of μ on the commodity user's equilibrium expected profit E^u , I vary μ , set $\gamma = 0.4$, and keep all other parameters the same as in Figure 3.5. The results (Figure 3.7) reveal that E^u initially decreases as the expected spot price μ increases and this is as expected since an increased μ not only places a premium on the spot price, but also, on the fixed contract charge as well. When $\mu > \mu_0 = 235.5$ however, E^u begins to increase in μ , and we recall from proposition 5 that when $\mu > \mu_0$, the user is sure to speculate through the contract.

3.4.6 Effects of σ^2 , the Spot Price Volatility

We may conclude the following concerning σ^2 .

Proposition 6 Recall that, in Proposition 2, γ_0 is define through

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha)}{2 \cdot (\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))}$$

(a) When the severity of off-capacity penalty $\gamma < \gamma_0$, the user's equilibrium contract ordering level x^u is decreasing in the spot price volatility σ^2 , and increasing in σ^2 otherwise.

(b) The user's equilibrium variance of profit V^u is always increasing in σ^2 .

(c) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge z^s is increasing in σ^2 .

$$\sigma_0^2 = rac{(\mu-\kappa)\cdot(1-lpha)-2\gamma\cdot(2\delta-\omega\cdot(1-lpha))}{2eta\delta\cdot(1-lpha)^2}.$$

The supplier's equilibrium expected profit E^s is decreasing in σ^2 when $\sigma^2 < \sigma_0^2$, and increasing in σ^2 otherwise.

We see that the opportunistic response of the supplier to an increased spot price volatility by way of an increased contract charge could unduly drive the commodity user into the spot market, and unless the spot price volatility is high enough (i.e. $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$), such opportunistic tendency would only serve to lower bottom line E^s for the supplier. Where the spot price volatility is high, the user's hesitation in engaging in spot market transactions is heightened so that the loss of sales volume becomes less of a worry for the supplier.

The result of V^u increasing everywhere in σ^2 is intuitive since the more volatile the spot price gets, the higher the price volatility the user is faced with both under the contract and in the spot market. Setting $\gamma = 0.309$, $\mu = 58$, and varying σ^2 while keeping all other parameters of Figure 3.7 the same, we find that a reduced spot price volatility allows for a higher equilibrium expected profit for the commodity user (results presented in Figure 3.8).

3.5 Managerial Implications

The findings that there are instances in which the risk averse commodity user could become less hesitant in considering purchasing from the spot market with increased levels of risk aversion β , spot price volatility σ^2 , or off-capacity order penalty γ , provide some very interesting insights. We would ordinarily expect that higher levels of β and σ^2 should cause the user to be further drawn to the price stability offered by the contract, while higher values of γ would be expected to curtail the user's flexibility to order less than the reserved capacity ω from contract. We however find that the supplier's exploitation of the commodity user's vulnerability at elevated values of these parameters by charging higher unit prices, could sometimes trigger, quite the opposite reactions from the user and with sometimes detrimental effects on the supplier by way of reduced bottom line expected profits. Thus, while it is reasonable to expect that the supplier's bargaining edge would increase with higher values of β , σ^2 , or γ , our results seem to indicate that the supplier runs the risk of overestimating the increased leverage afforded her by higher values of these parameters. This underscores the need for the supplier to have a sound understanding of the value that her client places on the price stability offering of her contract.

By allowing the contract price to be tied to the realization of the spot market price, the supplier runs the risk of the realized contract price turning out to be less than what she would have obtained from a fixed price contract if the spot price plunged. However, we have found that when the level of the contract's exposure to the spot price is low enough, the supplier gains the advantage of better competing with the spot market for the commodity user's business, resulting in higher expected profits compared to her guaranteed profits under a fixed price setting. Therefore, aside the commonplace argument that a floating contract price arrangement affords the supplier the opportunity to reap the benefits of upward movements in spot prices, we find that if properly designed, this pricing strategy has the strategic benefit of reducing the threat that spot market competition poses to the supplier.



Figure 3.1 Effect of α on E^u and V^u





---- $\alpha_0 = 0.505, \ E_{\alpha=\alpha_0}^{SC} > E_{\alpha=0}^{SC} \text{ by } 5.9\%$ ESC



Figure 3.3 Effect of β on E^u and V^u for $\gamma > \gamma_0$



Figure 3.4 Effect of β on E^u and V^u for $\gamma < \gamma_0$



Figure 3.5 Effect of γ on E^u and V^u



Figure 3.6 Effect of ω on E^u and V^u



Figure 3.7 Effect of μ on E^u and V^u



CHAPTER 4

THE PURCHASING, PRICING, AND PRODUCTION PROBLEM

4.1 **Problem Description**

Let the current time be t_0 . I again consider a risk-averse commodity user faced with a known end market demand δ at a future time t_1 . A spot market exists for the commodity. Suppose the spot price at time t_1 is a random Π . The commodity user realizes ρ dollars in revenue per unit of the commodity. As before, I suppose that storage is prohibitive for the commodity user and the time needed for the acquired commodity to be processed at the user is negligible. The commodity user has two procurement options to consider, namely, contract with a risk-averse supplier, who will deliver the contracted quantity at time t_1 , or to purchase the balance of his needs from the spot market at time t_1 .

Let us denote the commodity user's purchase from the supplier by x. If $x < \delta$, the user must purchase the entire balance $\delta - x$ from the spot market. The commodity user should not be able to place a negative order through his contract. That is, we should have $x \ge 0$. However, I start by relaxing this non-negativity constraint on x, and study the conditions, if any, under which it would be violated. The question the commodity user seeks to address is that of how much he should purchase through contract and how much he should purchase from the spot market.

Under the contractual arrangement with the supplier, at the decision time t_0 , the commodity user enters into a one-time agreement with the supplier for delivery of a given quantity x of the commodity at t_1 . Again, the contract price is structured as an affine function of the spot price π realized at t_1 :

$$p(\pi) = \alpha \pi + y. \tag{4.1}$$

I suppose that there is an already established agreement on the non-negative α , reflecting the degree of exposure to spot price desired by the commodity user under the contract. The corresponding fixed-component term y is determined by the supplier based on her calculation of the random spot price II. Like before, I assume that the contract payment is settled at the time t_1 when delivery of the goods is made and the spot price has been realized as some π . Unlike the purchasing and pricing problem that excluded the supplier's spot market participation, it is assumed here that the supplier can easily sell off her excess stock to the spot market or buy from this market to satisfy the user's demand in excess of her available stock. Thus, in addition to establishing the contract's fixed charge y, the supplier also faces the question of what production quantity z to commit to.

For each unit of production, I suppose the supplier incurs some κ amount. While any fixed cost that might be incurred by the supplier in engaging in spot market transactions is assumed to be negligible, as discussed in the introduction, it is assumed that the commodity user incurs some γ spot market access fee per unit purchased from this market. While the user is allowed to buy from the spot market, he is not allowed to sell to this market unlike the previous problem that gives the user both buy and sell access to the spot market. Allowing only spot market buying access for the user is more realistic since given that the user's demand is known, there are little to no practical incentives for the user to engage in speculative selling activities.

The mean-variance approach is adopted in modeling the commodity user's and supplier's risk aversion. I denote the measure of the commodity user's risk aversion as β^u , while β^s denotes the measure of the supplier's aversion to risk.

4.2 **Problem Formulation**

Suppose the commodity user decides to contract an x quantity from the supplier, the realized price of the contract offered by the supplier is ϕ , the realized spot market price at t_1 is π , and his per unit

spot access fee is γ . Then, the commodity user's payoff $f^{u0}(x, \phi, \pi)$ will be as follows:

$$f^{u0}(x,\phi,\pi) = \rho\delta - \phi x - \pi \cdot (\delta - x) - \gamma \cdot (\delta - x).$$
(4.2)

Here, $\rho\delta$ is the revenue the user can earn, ϕx is the amount the user has to pay to the supplier according to the contract, $\pi \cdot (\delta - x)$ is the cost of purchasing from the spot market (not including the spot market access fee), and $\gamma \cdot (\delta - x)$ is the total fee the user incurs in accessing the spot market.

Suppose the supplier has decided the y in the contract form (4.1), and the commodity user has made his decision on x, then, when the realized spot market price is π , the user will earn $\psi^u(x, y, \pi)$, where

$$\psi^{u}(x, y, \pi) = f^{u0}(x, \alpha \pi + y, \pi).$$
(4.3)

Combining (4.2) and (4.3), we may work out that

$$\psi^{u}(x,y,\pi) = f_{0}^{u}(x,y) + f_{1}^{u}(x) \cdot \pi, \qquad (4.4)$$

where

$$\begin{cases} f_0^u(x,y) = \rho \delta - xy - \gamma \cdot (\delta - x), \\ f_1^u(x) = (1 - \alpha) \cdot x - \delta. \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

The risk-averse commodity user's objective function $f^{u}(x, y)$ is therefore determined by

$$f^{u}(x,y) = E[\psi^{u}(x,y,\Pi)] - \beta^{u} \cdot V[\psi^{u}(x,y,\Pi)].$$
(4.6)

Plugging (4.4) into (4.6), we can obtain that

$$f^{u}(x,y) = f^{u}_{0}(x,y) + \mu \cdot f^{u}_{1}(x) - \beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x))^{2},$$
(4.7)

where I have used μ to denote the mean $E[\Pi]$ of Π and σ^2 the variance $V[\Pi]$ of Π . Therefore, the commodity user's problem can be formulated as follows:

$$\max \quad f^{u}(x, y)$$
s.t. $x < \delta.$

$$(4.8)$$

Here as well as in the supplier's formulation, I ignore nonnegativity constraint, as they all turn out to be always satisfied. Given the contract coefficient y, the commodity user will solve (4.8) to obtain the equilibrium contract quantity $x^u(y)$ and consequently, the equilibrium spot market purchase quantity $\delta - x^u(y)$.

Suppose the commodity user responds to the supplier's offer with an ordering quantity x, the realized contract price is ϕ , the supplier has decided a production quantity z, and she can buy from or sell to the spot market at t_1 at the prevailing spot price π . Then, the supplier's profit realized at t_1 is $f^{s0}(x, \phi, z, \pi)$, where

$$f^{s0}(x,\phi,z,\pi) = \phi x - \kappa z + \pi \cdot (z-x)^{+} - \pi \cdot (z-x)^{-}$$

= $\phi x - \kappa z + \pi \cdot (z-x).$ (4.9)

Recall that κ is the per unit production cost charged to the supplier, and z is the quantity the supplier produces. When the contract price follows the form in (4.1) and the commodity user's equilibrium

ordering quantity is $x^{u}(y)$, the supplier's payoff will be

$$\psi^{s}(y, z, \pi) = f^{s0}(x^{u}(y), \alpha \pi + y, z, \pi).$$
(4.10)

Combining (4.9) and (4.10), we may work out that

$$\psi^{s}(y, z, \pi) = f_{0}^{s}(y, z) + f_{1}^{s}(y, z) \cdot \pi, \qquad (4.11)$$

where

$$\begin{cases} f_0^s(y,z) = y \cdot x^u(y) - \kappa \cdot z, \\ f_1^s(y,z) = z - (1-\alpha) \cdot x^u(y). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.12)$$

The risk-averse supplier's objective function $f^s(y, z, \lambda)$ is therefore determined by

$$f^{s}(y,z) = E[\psi^{s}(y,z,\Pi)] - \beta^{s} \cdot V[\psi^{s}(y,z,\Pi)].$$
(4.13)

Plugging (4.11) into (4.13), we can obtain that

$$f^{s}(y,z) = f_{0}^{s}(y,z) + \mu \cdot f_{1}^{s}(y,z) - \beta^{s}\sigma^{2} \cdot (f_{1}^{s}(y,z))^{2},$$
(4.14)

The supplier's problem can be formulated as

$$\begin{array}{l} \max \quad f^s(y,z) \\ \text{s.t.} \quad y,z \text{ are free.} \end{array}$$

$$(4.15)$$

The supplier will solve (4.15) to obtain the equilibrium contract coefficient y^s and equilibrium production quantity z^s . The commodity user's equilibrium contract quantity will be $x^u = x^u(y^s)$.

I make the following reasonable assumption:

(a1) $\kappa < \mu$, i.e., it is expected to cost the supplier less to produce a unit item than for the item to be purchased from the spot market.

4.3 Analysis

When (4.5) is plugged into (4.7) and then further into (4.8), we may get

$$\max f^{u}(x,y) = \rho\delta - xy - \gamma \cdot (\delta - x) - \mu \cdot (\delta - x \cdot (1 - \alpha)) - \beta^{u} \sigma^{2} \cdot (\delta - x \cdot (1 - \alpha))^{2}$$

$$(4.16)$$
s.t. $x \le \delta$.

The Lagrangian for (4.16), after regrouping, is given by:

$$L^{u}(x, y, \lambda) = -\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} \cdot x^{2} - (\lambda - \gamma + y - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta)) \cdot x$$

+ $\delta \cdot (\rho - \mu - \gamma - \beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta + \lambda),$ (4.17)

where λ is the multiplier corresponding to the constraint $x \leq \delta$. Clearly, $L^u(x, y, \lambda)$ is quadratic in x with a negative second order coefficient. The Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions, which are sufficient and necessary for optimality of the user's problem, are as follows:

$$\frac{\partial L^{u}(x, y, \lambda)}{\partial x} = 0, \qquad \text{Lagrangian Maximizer}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$x \le \delta$$
, Explicit Feasibility, (4.19)

$$\lambda \cdot (x - \delta) = 0,$$
 Complementary Slackness, (4.20)

$$\lambda \ge 0,$$
 Positive Shadow Price. (4.21)

For the time being, we may pretend that λ is a given parameter. Now, let us associate all entities defined earlier with a λ field. We may solve (4.18) to obtain $x^u(y, \lambda)$:

$$x^{u}(y,\lambda) = \frac{(\mu + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1-\alpha) - y + \gamma - \lambda}{2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}}.$$
(4.22)

Plugging (4.22) into (4.12) and then further into the supplier's objective function (4.14), we obtain

$$f^{s}(y, z, \lambda) = -\beta^{s} \sigma^{2} z^{2} + (\mu - \kappa - \beta^{s} \sigma^{2} \vartheta / (\beta^{u} \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha))) \cdot z$$

$$-\beta^{s} \sigma^{2} \vartheta^{2} / (2\beta^{u} \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha))^{2}$$

$$+\mu \vartheta / (2\beta^{u} \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)) - y \vartheta / (2\beta^{u} \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}),$$
(4.23)

where I have let

$$\vartheta = \lambda - \gamma + y - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu + 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta).$$
(4.24)

I adopt a two-step approach in solving the supplier's problem. We first fix y and then proceed to solve for the $z^s(y, \lambda)$ that maximizes $f^s(y, z, \lambda)$. It is easy to see that $f^s(y, z, \lambda)$ is quadratic in z with a negative second order coefficient. The equilibrium production quantity $z^s(y, \lambda)$ can therefore be obtained by setting the first order derivative of $f^s(y, z, \lambda)$ with respect to z to zero, i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial f^s(y,z,\lambda)}{\partial z} \mid_{z=z^s(y,\lambda)} = 0.$$
(4.25)

From this we may obtain

$$z^{s}(y,\lambda) = \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}} - \frac{\lambda - \gamma + y - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta)}{2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)}.$$
(4.26)

In the second step, we substitute (4.26) into (4.23). The supplier's objective function will become

$$F^{s}(y,\lambda) = f^{s}(y,z^{s}(y,\lambda)) = -y^{2}/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}) -(\eta/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}) - \kappa/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha))) \cdot y +((\mu-\kappa)/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) - \eta/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha))) \cdot (\mu-\kappa-\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) -\eta^{2}/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha))^{2} + \eta/(2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)),$$
(4.27)

where I have let

$$\eta = \lambda - \gamma - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu + 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta).$$
(4.28)

We observe that (4.27) is quadratic in y with a negative second order coefficient. We can therefore establish $y^s(\lambda)$ by setting

$$\frac{\partial F^s(y,\lambda)}{\partial y}|_{y=y^s(\lambda)} = 0, \tag{4.29}$$

from which we obtain

$$y^{s}(\lambda) = \left(\frac{\mu + \kappa}{2} + \beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta\right) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \frac{\gamma - \lambda}{2}.$$
(4.30)

Plugging (4.30) into (4.22) and (4.26), we obtain

$$x^{u}(\lambda) = \frac{(\mu - \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma - \lambda}{4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}},$$
(4.31)

$$z^{s}(\lambda) = \frac{\mu - \kappa}{4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}} + \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}} + \frac{\delta}{2} + \frac{\gamma - \lambda}{4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)}.$$
(4.32)

.
Now, let us try to fill the value for λ . From the user's optimality conditions (4.19) through (4.21), two optimal solutions are possible namely:

Case 1:
$$\lambda > 0 \text{ and } x^u(\lambda) = \delta,$$

Case 2: $\lambda = 0 \text{ and } x^u(\lambda) \le \delta.$ (4.33)

Let us concentrate on case 1 first. From (4.31), setting $x^u(\lambda) - \delta = 0$, we obtain λ to be

$$\lambda = (\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma - 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) \cdot (1 - 2\alpha).$$
(4.34)

From (4.34), it becomes clear that $\lambda > 0$ if and only if

$$\gamma > (1 - \alpha) \cdot (2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - 2\alpha) - \mu + \kappa).$$
(4.35)

Therefore, when the fee to access the spot market is sufficiently high, the user will be compelled to purchase all of his commodity needs from contract. Substituting (4.34) for λ in (4.30) and (4.32), we obtain

$$\begin{cases} y^{s} = \kappa \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}, \\ z^{s} = \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) + (\mu - \kappa)/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.36)$$

By assumption (a1), we may observe from (4.36) that neither y^s nor z^s will ever assume any negative value.

Let us then focus on case 2. Substituting zero for λ in (4.30), (4.31), and (4.32), we obtain

$$x^{u} = ((\mu - \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma)/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}),$$

$$y^{s} = ((\mu + \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma)/2,$$

$$z^{s} = (\mu - \kappa)/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}) + (\mu - \kappa)/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) + \delta/2 + \gamma/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)).$$

(4.37)

Again by assumption (a1), we may observe from (4.37) that none of x^u , y^s , and z^s will ever assume any negative value. The above x^u will remain below δ when the opposite to (4.35) is true. From our results thus far, we can state the following.

Proposition 7 When the user's spot market access fee is so high as to satisfy (4.35), the user's equilibrium strategy will be to purchase all of his commodity needs through contract, i.e., $x^u = \delta$; also, the supplier's equilibrium strategy will be given by (4.36). When the opposite is true, the user's equilibrium strategy will be to satisfy his commodity needs through a combination of contract and spot market purchases; more particularly, equilibrium strategies of the user and the supplier will be given by (4.37).

At the signing of the contract, the commodity user's payoff is the random Ψ^u , determined through

$$\Psi^{u} = \psi^{u}(x^{u}, y^{s}, \pi), \tag{4.38}$$

where $\psi^u(\cdot)$ is defined in (4.3); at the same time, the supplier's payoff is the random Ψ^s , determined through

$$\Psi^s = \psi^s(y^s, z^s, \pi), \tag{4.39}$$

where $\psi^s(\cdot)$ is defined in (4.10). Let us now embark on a study of $E[\Psi^u]$, $V[\Psi^u]$, $E[\Psi^s]$, $V[\Psi^s]$, $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$, and $E[p(\pi)]$ where $p(\pi)$ is defined in (4.1).

For the commodity user, using (4.5), (4.6), and (4.7), we may derive that

$$\begin{cases} E[\Psi^{u}] = f_{0}^{u}(x^{u}, y^{s}) + \mu \cdot f_{1}^{u}(x^{u}) \\ = \rho \delta - z^{s} x^{u} - \gamma \cdot (\delta - x^{u}) - \mu \cdot (\delta - x^{u} \cdot (1 - \alpha)), \\ V[\Psi^{u}] = \sigma^{2} \cdot (f_{1}^{u}(x^{u}))^{2} = \sigma^{2} \cdot (\delta - x^{u} \cdot (1 - \alpha))^{2}. \end{cases}$$
(4.40)

For the supplier, using (4.1), (4.11), (4.12), and (4.13), we may derive that

$$\begin{cases} E[p(\pi)] = \alpha \mu + y^{s}, \\ E[\Psi^{s}] = f_{0}^{s}(y^{s}, z^{s}) + \mu \cdot f_{1}^{s}(x^{u}, z^{s}) \\ = y^{s} \cdot x^{u} - \kappa z^{s} + \mu \cdot (z^{s} - (1 - \alpha) \cdot x^{u}), \\ V[\Psi^{s}] = \sigma^{2} \cdot (f_{1}^{s}(x^{u}, z^{s}))^{2} = \sigma^{2} \cdot (z^{s} - (1 - \alpha) \cdot x^{u})^{2}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.41)$$

For case 1 with $x^u = \delta$, substituting (4.36) in (4.40), (4.41), and $\alpha \mu + z^s$, we obtain

$$E[\Psi^{u}] = \rho\delta - \alpha\mu\delta - \delta \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot (\kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)),$$

$$V[\Psi^{u}] = \alpha^{2}\sigma^{2}\delta^{2},$$

$$E[\Psi^{s}] = 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + (\mu-\kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}),$$

$$V[\Psi^{s}] = \sigma^{2} \cdot (\mu-\kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2})^{2},$$

$$E[\Psi^{u}] + E[\Psi^{s}] = \rho\delta - \kappa\delta + (\mu-\kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) - \alpha\delta \cdot (\mu-\kappa),$$

$$E[p(\pi)] = \alpha \cdot (\mu-\kappa) + \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}.$$
(4.42)

••

For case 2, substituting (4.37) in (4.40), (4.41), and $\alpha \mu + z^s$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} E[\Psi^{u}] &= (2\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma^{2})/(8\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}) \\ &+ (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(8\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}) - \delta \cdot ((\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta/2) + \mu - \rho + \gamma), \\ V[\Psi^{u}] &= \sigma^{2} \cdot (\delta + ((\mu - \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma) \\ &/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}))^{2}, \\ E[\Psi^{s}] &= (\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta^{2}/2) + (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) + (\delta \cdot (\mu - \kappa)/2) \\ &+ (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(8\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}) + (\gamma^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot \\ &(1 - \alpha))/(8\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}), \\ V[\Psi^{s}] &= \sigma^{2} \cdot (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2})^{2}, \\ E[\Psi^{u}] + E[\Psi^{s}] &= (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(2\beta^{s}\sigma^{2}) + (\mu - \kappa)^{2}/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}) \\ &- \delta \cdot (((\mu + \kappa)/2) - \rho + \gamma) + (\gamma^{2} + 2\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa + \beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha))/(4\beta^{u}\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}), \\ E[p(\pi)] &= ((\mu + \kappa + \gamma)/2) + \beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta + (\alpha/2) \cdot (\mu - \kappa - 2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta). \end{split}$$

4.4 A Comparative Statics Study

I now study how x^u , y^s , z^s , $E[\Psi^u]$, $V[\Psi^u]$, $E[\Psi^s]$, $V[\Psi^s]$, $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$, and $E[p(\pi)]$ are influenced by the problem's parameters. According to (4.36) through (4.43), the following is a list of relevant parameters:

(I) α -the degree of the contract's exposure to spot price volatility;

(II) β^u -the commodity user's degree of risk aversion;

(III) β^s -the supplier's degree of risk aversion;

(IV) γ -the user's spot market access fee;

(V) μ -the expected value of the spot price; and,

(VI) σ^2 -the variance of the spot price.

Besides, the following two parameters are subject to scaling:

(VII) δ -the fixed demand level; and,

(VIII) κ -the supplier's unit production cost.

4.4.1 Effects of α , the Contract's Exposure to Spot Price

My findings concerning α can be summarized as follows.

Proposition 8 When (4.35) holds so that the user's equilibrium strategy is to solely source his needs through contract, the following will happen:

(a) The user's equilibrium variance of profit $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in the contract's spot price exposure α .

Define α_0 so that

$$\alpha_0 = 1 - \frac{\mu - \kappa}{4\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta}.$$

The user's equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in α when $\alpha < \alpha_0$, and decreasing in α otherwise.

(b) The supplier's equilibrium fixed charge y^s , equilibrium production volume z^s , and equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^s]$, are all decreasing in α . When $\alpha > \alpha_0$, the supplier's equilibrium expected contract price $E[p(\pi)]$, is increasing in α , and decreasing in α otherwise. Her equilibrium variance of profit $V[\Psi^s]$ is not impacted by α .

(c) The total supply chain equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ is decreasing in α . When the opposite to (4.35) is true so that the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract

and spot market to source his needs, the following will happen:

(d) The user's equilibrium contract quantity x^u , and equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^u]$, are increasing in α . His $V[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in α .

(e) For the supplier, y^s, and E[p(π)] are decreasing in α, while z^s is increasing in α. Her equilibrium expected profit E[Ψ^s] is increasing in α, while her V[Ψ^s] is again not impacted by α.
(f) For the supply chain, E[Ψ^u] + E[Ψ^s] is increasing in α.

Discussion of Propositions 8(a-c)

From proposition 8(b), we see that while the supplier will always to respond to an increased contract spot exposure α with a reduced fixed charge y, she is however more hesitant to reduce y when α is already very high (i.e. $\alpha > \alpha_0$) compared to when α is already low enough (i.e. $\alpha > \alpha_0$). This is what we would expect in practice since a high level of α puts the supplier at great risk of exposure to spot price volatility and the supplier would naturally try to mitigate this exposure with higher expected contract prices. Therefore, we see that while the user benefits from higher levels of $\alpha < \alpha_0$ with his equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^u]$ peaking at $\alpha = \alpha_0$, his $E[\Psi^u]$ goes downhill with the deteriorating pricing deals from the supplier for higher levels of $\alpha > \alpha_0$.

We observe from proposition 8(b) that the supplier's equilibrium production volume z^s is decreasing in α . There are two possible explanations for this observation. Firstly, when $\alpha < (\mu - \kappa)/(2\beta^s \delta)$ so that $z^s > \delta$, the supplier's equilibrium strategy is to produce more than the user's demand δ and sell the excess to the spot market. In this case, for the profit variance minimizing supplier, the more the spot price exposure she already has through the contract, the more she would want to cut back on her direct exposure to the spot market by reducing her spot market selling volume. This also explains why the supplier's equilibrium variance of profit $V[\Psi^s]$ is not impacted by α . Secondly, when $\alpha > (\mu - \kappa)/(2\beta^s \delta) z^s < \delta$, the supplier's equilibrium strategy involves satisfying the user's needs through a combination of her production activity and spot market buying engagements.

Indeed, in practice, instances can be found where although it might be expected to be cheaper to produce an item than to source the item through the spot market, the item's extreme spot price volatility might make the latter option more attractive to the supplier. In this case, the supplier is more concerned with the possibility of the spot price dropping below her production cost κ . Hence, as α increases, the more she would seek to satisfy the user's demand at a cost closer to the realized spot price due to the fear that the realized contract price may not compensate for her production cost. This again explains why α has no effect on $V[\Psi^s]$. From these two explanations, it is straightforward to see why notwithstanding the fact that the supplier gets to charge higher contract prices as $\alpha > \alpha_0$ increases, her equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^s]$ is nonetheless strictly decreasing in α . In the first case where $z^s > \delta$, the reduced spot market selling volume reduces her expected revenue generating potential. For $z^s < \delta$, by assumption (a1), her increased reliance on the spot market to satisfy the user's demand increases her expected cost.

From proposition 8(c), we can conclude that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to purchase solely through the contract, even when the dynamic contract pricing arrangement is beneficial to the user, its negative effect on the supplier is always significant enough to reduce the overall supply chain equilibrium expected profit. It is safe to predict that under this sole sourcing strategy, it would take a user with superior bargaining strength to negotiate such dynamic pricing with the supplier.

Discussion of Proposition 8(d-f)

From propositions 8(d-f), we see that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market to source his commodity needs, dynamic contract pricing has a win-win effect on the user-supplier relationship to the overall benefit of the supply chain. As a higher level of exposure to spot price is sought under the contract, the supplier responds with a reduced contract price to lure the user to the contract. This is because a higher α would naturally indicate that the user is less spot market shy, thereby raising the threat the spot market poses to the supplier. The user in turn responds to the improved contract offer by way of an increased contract quantity that more than compensates the supplier for her reduced price. The observation that z^s is increasing in α is directly attributable to the increased x^u .

Thus, perhaps, the most important finding in this section is that when the supplier is in competition with the spot market for the user's business, by offering the user a dynamic contract price, the supplier can gain a strategic advantage over the spot market. When there is no such spot market threat, dynamic contract pricing is never expected to work to the supplier's benefit.

To illustrate the effect of α on equilibrium expected profits, we present two numerical examples. In the first example (Figure 4.1), varying α from 0 to 1, we fix the other parameters as follows: $\rho = 100, \kappa = 40, \delta = 300, \gamma = 3, \beta^u = 0.0002, \beta^s = 0.0001, \mu = 60, \sigma^2 = 150$, so that the user's equilibrium strategy is always to purchase his total needs from contract. In the second example (Figure 4.2), $\rho = 100, \kappa = 20, \delta = 1000, \gamma = 2, \beta^u = 0.0003, \beta^s = 0.0002, \mu = 40, \sigma^2 = 150$, while α is varied from 0 to 0.37, so that the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market. We see that the supply chain's equilibrium expected profit is deteriorating in α in Figure 4.1, while in Figure 4.2, an improvement of 1.13% of the supply chain equilibrium expected profit is realized for $\alpha = 0.37$ over $\alpha = 0$ (fixed price contract). It should be noted that our selected values of γ are in line with what would be expected in practice, as typically, the spot market unit transaction cost of a commodity can be roughly a tenth of its spot price (see Secomandi and Kekre (2009)).



Figure 4.1 Effect of α on $E[\Psi^u]$, $E[\Psi^s]$, and $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ for $x^u = \delta$.



4.4.2 Effects of Risk Aversion Factors β^u and β^s .

Concerning β^u , and β^s , my findings are summarized below.

Proposition 9 When (4.35) holds, the following will happen:

(a) The user's equilibrium expected profit $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in β^u , while β^s has no effect on

 $E[\Psi^u]$; also, β^u and β^s have no impact on $V[\Psi^u]$.

(b) For the supplier, y^s and $E[\Psi^s]$ are increasing in β^u , while β^s has no effect on these. Both z^s and $V[\Psi^s]$ are decreasing in β^s , and not impacted by β^u .

When the opposite of (4.35) is true, the following will happen:

(c) The user's equilibrium contract quantity x^u is decreasing in β^u . His $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in β^u and $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in β^u . Also, β^s has no effect on the user's equilibrium results. (d) For the supplier, y^s and $E[\Psi^s]$ are increasing in β^u , while β^s has no effect on these. Both z^s and $V[\Psi^s]$ are decreasing in β^s , and while z^s is also decreasing in β^u , $V[\Psi^s]$ is not impacted by this parameter.

(e) Both the user's $E[\Psi^u]$ and supplier's $E[\Psi^s]$ increasing rates in α are decreasing in β^u , while both are unaffected by β^s .

Discussion of Proposition 9(a-f)

We see from Propositions 9(b & d) that while increased levels of the supplier's aversion to risk do not affect her pricing leverage, she always exploits increased levels of the user's risk aversion β^u by charging higher contract prices. Even when the user is increasingly forced into the spot market as her β^u increases due to the supplier's deteriorating deals, the supplier's gain in per unit contract price more than compensates for the lost sales volume as indicated in Propositions 9(c & d). We can therefore conclude that for the risk-averse user-supplier relationship, the supplier has the bargaining edge. The observation that the supplier's z^s is always decreasing in β^s is intuitive as we would expect the supplier to cut down on her spot market selling engagements as she gets more risk-averse. Proposition 9(d)'s observation that z^s is decreasing in the user's risk aversion β^u is a direct result of x^u 's decline with β^u .

Overall, while we would ordinarily expect the user to find the relative stability offered by the contract more attractive as he gets increasingly risk-averse and order more from contract, we find that the supplier's opportunistic response to increased β^u triggers quite the opposite reaction from the user. We however find that this opportunistic behavior on the part of the supplier could result in the lowering of her profit earning potential as we see from Proposition 9(e) that the gains in the supplier's equilibrium expected profits with increasing α occur at slower rates for higher levels of the user's risk aversion.

4.4.3 Effects of γ , the User's Spot Market Access Fee

My findings concerning γ are given as follows.

Proposition 10 When (4.35) is true, the following will happen:

(a) γ has no impact on the equilibrium results.

When the opposite of (4.35) holds, the following will happen:

(b) The user's equilibrium contract quantity x^u is increasing in γ . His $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in γ , while $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in γ .

(c) For the supplier, y^s (and consequently $E[p(\pi)]$), z^s , and $E[\Psi^s]$ are all increasing in γ . γ has no effect on $V[\Psi^s]$.

(d) Both the user's $E[\Psi^u]$ and supplier's $E[\Psi^s]$ increasing rates in α are increasing in γ .

Discussion of Proposition 10(a-c)

The effects of γ on equilibrium results are intuitive. Obviously, when the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market, the more it costs the user to access the spot market, the more the user would want to shy away from this market. The reduced spot market threat in turn provides the supplier a higher pricing leverage to capitalize on. It can be seen from (4.43), that for very low values of γ , the improvements in supply chain coordination that can be realized from the dynamic contract can be very marginal. In fact, for $\gamma = 0$, the equilibrium expected profits $E[\Psi^u]$ and $E[\Psi^s]$, and equilibrium variances of profit $V[\Psi^u]$ and $V[\Psi^s]$, are unaffected by α . Therefore, when the user's spot market access fee γ is negligible and the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market purchases, the dynamic $\alpha > 0$ contract yields the same performance as a locked-in $\alpha = 0$ contract. In this case, the only benefit of the dynamic contract from the user's perspective is that it allows the user to take advantage of plunges in spot prices if such do occur. On the part of the supplier, the dynamic contract serves to increase her share of the user's business and allows her to gain from spot price hikes. The observation that higher equilibrium expected profits are realized from the floating contract with higher values of γ can be explained as follows. Since the user's hesitation to access the spot market increases in γ , the higher the γ therefore, the more eager is the user to take advantage of the improved contract offer that accompanies an increase in α . The effect on the supplier is that her share of the user's business increases in α at a faster pace with higher values of γ .

Figure 4.3 illustrates how the expected profit improvements realized from an $\alpha > 0$ contract becomes less significant with negligible spot access fee γ . Keeping all other parameters of Figure 4.2 the same, we plot $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ against α for $\gamma = 5, 3, 1, 0.5$. It can be seen from Figure 4.3 that while for $\gamma = 5$, an improvement of 3% in supply chain equilibrium expected profit is realized for an $\alpha = 0.37$ contract over an $\alpha = 0$ contract, only a 0.27% improvement is realized for $\gamma = 0.5$.



Figure 4.3 Significance of γ on Supply Chain Improvements with $\alpha > 0$ Contracts.

4.4.4 Effects of μ , the Expected Spot Price of the Commodity

Concerning μ , the following is true.

Proposition 11 When (4.35) holds, the following will happen:

(a) For the user, $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in μ , while μ has no effect on $V[\Psi^u]$.

(b) For the supplier, $E[p(\pi)]$, z^s , $E[\Psi^s]$, and $V[\Psi^s]$ are all increasing in μ . μ has no impact on y^s . When the opposite of (4.35) is true, the following will happen:

(c) For the user, x^u is increasing in μ , while $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in μ and $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in μ .

(d) All the supplier's equilibrium results are increasing in μ .

Discussion of Proposition 11(a-d)

It is interesting to find that when the spot market poses no threat to the supplier (i.e. $x^u = \delta$), the supplier's equilibrium fixed charge y^s is independent of the expected spot market price. This brings to bear, the importance of spot market competition in putting the supplier in check in her pricing decisions as indicated by the dependence of y^s on μ when $x^u < \delta$. As we would also expect, a higher μ raises the chances of realizing a high spot price, and the user becomes more cautious in considering spot market engagements. This explains why x^u is increasing in μ as indicated in proposition 11(c). The supplier in turn, not only capitalizes on the reduced spot market threat by charging higher values of the contract coefficient y, but also gains from the increased spot price premium. These result in higher expected profits for the supplier and lower expected profits for the user. Overall, we can conclude that higher expected spot prices always work to the supplier's benefit, and never the user's.

4.4.5 Effects of σ^2 , the Spot Price Volatility

The following can be concluded concerning σ^2 .

Proposition 12 When (4.35) is true, the following will happen:

(a) For the user, $E[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in σ^2 and $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in σ^2 .

(b) For the supplier, y^s (and consequently $E[p(\pi)]$) is increasing in σ^2 , while z^s and $V[\Psi^s]$ are decreasing in σ^2 .

Define σ_0^2 so that

$$\sigma_0^2 = \frac{\mu - \kappa}{2\delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\beta^s \beta^u)^{0.5}}.$$

The supplier's $E[\Psi^s]$ is increasing in σ^2 when $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$ and decreasing in σ^2 otherwise.

When the opposite of (4.35) is true, the following will happen:

(c) For the user, x^u , and $E[\Psi^u]$ are decreasing in σ^2 , while $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in σ^2 .

(d) For the supplier, y^s (and consequently $E[p(\pi)]$) is increasing in σ^2 , while z^s , and $V[\Psi^s]$ are decreasing in σ^2 .

Define σ_1^2 so that

$$\sigma_1^2 = \left(\frac{\beta^s \cdot (\gamma + (\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha))^2 + 4\beta^u \cdot (\mu - \kappa)^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2}{4\beta^s \cdot (\beta^u \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha))^2}\right)^{0.5}$$

The supplier's $E[\Psi^s]$ is increasing in σ^2 when $\sigma^2 > \sigma_1^2$ and decreasing in σ^2 otherwise.

Discussion of Proposition 12(a-d)

The observation that y^s is increasing in σ^2 comes at no surprise as we would expect the supplier to mitigate the increased risk by charging higher prices. The result that the supplier's z^s is decreasing in σ^2 can be attributed to the following. First is her need to reduce exposure to the increasingly volatile spot market when her equilibrium strategy involves selling excess units to the spot market.

Second is her need to get the cost of satisfying the user's demand as close as possible to the realized spot price when her equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of her production and spot market purchase volumes.

We would expect that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market, the more volatile the spot price gets, the more the risk-averse user would want stay away from the spot market. It is therefore interesting to see from proposition 12(c) that x^u is decreasing in σ^2 . This contradiction is attributed to the supplier's opportunistic response to higher values of σ^2 by way of higher contract charges as indicated in 12(d). We however observe that except σ^2 is high enough (i.e. $\sigma^2 > \sigma_1^2$) so that the user is extremely cautious in trading in the spot market and responds less quickly to exorbitant charges by the supplier, the supplier's opportunistic tendency has the undesired effect of reducing her bottom line equilibrium expected profits. Proposition 12(b)'s finding that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to solely use contract, the supplier's equilibrium expected profit is increasing in $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$ and decreasing in σ^2 otherwise, can only lead us to conclude that for the supplier, the drop in z^s occurs at a slower pace relative to the pace of her gains in y^s when $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$, while the reverse is the case when $\sigma^2 < \sigma_0^2$.

4.5 Managerial Implications

Just as we saw in the previous problem, we find yet again instances in which the risk-averse commodity user could become less hesitant in considering purchasing from the spot market with increased levels of risk aversion β^u , and spot price volatility σ^2 . We would expect that higher levels of β^u and σ^2 should cause the user to be further drawn to the contract's price stability offering. We however find that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to use a combination of contract and spot market to source his needs, the supplier's exploitation of the commodity user's vulnerability at elevated values of these parameters by charging higher contract prices, always triggers, quite the opposite reactions from the user. In particular, it was interesting to find that the user's reaction to the supplier's opportunistic response to increased levels of σ^2 could sometimes have detrimental effects on the supplier by way of reduced bottom line expected profits. Thus, while it is reasonable to expect that the supplier's bargaining edge would increase with higher values of β^u , and σ^2 , we see yet again that the supplier runs the risk of overestimating the increased pricing leverage afforded her by higher values of these parameters. It is thus imperative that supplier understands the value that her client places on price stability.

By offering a floating contract that is tied to the realization of the spot market price, the supplier is clearly exposed to the risk of realizing a contract price that hardly compensates her for her cost of production. However, we have found that when the user's equilibrium strategy is to split his purchasing needs between contract and spot market, with the floating contract, the supplier gains the advantage of competing better against the spot market for the commodity user's business. When the user's spot market access fee is not negligible, the supplier's competitive advantage with the dynamic contract results in higher expected profits, compared to her guaranteed profits under a fixed price setting. Therefore, just as we saw with the previous problem, this pricing strategy clearly has the strategic benefit of reducing spot market threat for the supplier. Furthermore, it was discovered that where the level of spot exposure sought under the contract is high, by using the right combination of in-house production and spot market purchases to satisfy her client's needs, the supplier is able to mitigate her exposure to spot price volatility under such dynamic contracts.

Moreover, with the supplier's equilibrium variance of profit independent of the contract's exposure to the spot price, in terms of gaining greater control over variable profits, the supplier is no better off with a fixed contract price. Therefore, while the concept of a procurement portfolio for the risk mitigating buying firm has been widely studied (e.g. the Hewlett-Packard's PRM), I have demonstrated in this dissertation that a supplier offering a floating price contract to edge

out spot market competition, can successfully manage the associated risks by adopting a portfolio of supply strategies. Overall, my findings from both problems studied support the contention that even with today's proliferation of online spot markets for a broad range of commodities (and near-commodities), well structured long-term contractual relationships are sustainable.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

The purchasing, and pricing problem addressed in the first part of this dissertation explored the effects of risk aversion, spot price behavior, dynamic contract pricing and capacity reservation on the purchasing decision of a risk-averse commodity user and the pricing decision of his risk-neutral supplier. The demand faced by the commodity user is assumed to be known and it is assumed that the supplier can temporarily expand capacity to accommodate a contract order above the reserved capacity. Further, the supplier faces competition from the spot market for her client's business.

Using the mean-variance rule to model the commodity user's aversion to risk, closed-form equilibrium solutions were derived for the commodity user and supplier, and managerial insights were drawn from analytical results and numerical studies. While it was found that higher dedicated capacities and higher expected spot prices would always result in higher equilibrium expected profits for the supplier, conditions were found in which the supplier's opportunistic response to her client's increased aversion to risk and increased spot price volatility would result in the lowering of her earnings potential. It was also discovered that low penalties for off-capacity contract orders and high levels of exposure to spot price sought by the commodity user under the contract can potentially raise the threat that the spot market poses to the supplier.

It was shown through analytical results and numerical studies that when the level of spot price exposure the commodity user seeks under the contract is not too high, the proposed dynamic contract is superior to a fixed price contract arrangement by way of improved equilibrium expected profits for the supply chain. Analytical results also showed that the dynamic contract can strategically position the supplier against spot market competition when the contract's spot exposure is low enough, while it was found through numerical studies that an increased contract spot exposure always leads to an improved bottom line expected profit for the commodity user.

۱

The more elaborate purchasing, pricing, and production problem addressed in the second part of this dissertation explored the effects of dynamic contract pricing, risk aversion, spot price behavior, and non-frictionless spot market access on the purchasing decision of a risk-averse commodity user and the pricing and production decisions of his risk-averse supplier. Again, the demand faced by the commodity user is assumed to be known and both the user and supplier have direct access to the spot market. While the supplier can buy from or sell to the spot market at the prevailing spot price, the user can only buy from the spot market at the spot price plus some access fee that is linearly increasing in the spot market purchase volume. As is the case with the first problem, the contract pricing arrangement is such that the supplier's offered price is tied to the realized spot price of the commodity at the time of delivery.

Modeling both parties' aversion to risk using the mean-variance maxim, closed-form equilibrium solutions were derived for the commodity user and supplier, and managerial insights were drawn from analytical results. A threshold on the user's spot market access fee was derived, above which, the user's equilibrium strategy is always to purchase all his commodity needs from contract. Below this threshold, his equilibrium strategy involves using a combination of contract and spot market to satisfy his needs. Where the user's equilibrium strategy is to solely source from contract, it was found that though the proposed dynamic pricing arrangement may benefit the user, such pricing structure never works to the supplier's and overall supply chain's benefits. When the user's spot market, it was discovered that the dynamic contract pricing arrangement always leads to better supply chain coordination with win-win outcomes for both parties (user and supplier). Conditions on the problem parameters were derived, under which, the supplier's equilibrium strategy entails using a portfolio of supply strategies (in-house production and spot market purchases) to mitigate her risk of exposure to spot price volatility under the contract.

Where the user uses a portfolio of contract and spot market, the supplier's opportunistic response to higher levels of the user's aversion to risk (β^u), and spot price volatility (σ^s), by charging higher prices, has the unexpected effect of driving the user further into the spot market. While notwithstanding the lost business from the user, her exploitation of higher values of β^u was found to always result in increased equilibrium expected profits for the supplier, it was however discovered that such opportunistic behavior diminishes the rate of increase in her equilibrium expected profits with higher values of α , the contract exposure to spot price. Furthermore, when the spot price is not so volatile, the supplier's exploitation of higher values of σ^2 only serves to hurt her bottom line expected profits. While the supplier gains pricing advantage with increased expected spot price μ as well as increased user's spot access fee γ , the user's equilibrium expected profit dwindles as either of these parameters increases. Lastly, it was discovered that while the supplier's aversion to risk has no effect on the commodity user's decision making process, the supplier's equilibrium strategy is to produce less units of the commodity as she gets more risk averse.

CHAPTER 6

FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

This chapter proposes some possible extensions to the work conducted in this dissertation and discusses an emerging and closely related research direction.

6.1 Effects of Sport Market Yield

In this work, I have assumed that the commodity user will always get the exact amount of the order he places with the spot market, so spot market yield was not considered an issue. In practice however, it is not always guaranteed that a buyer will get the exact units of the item sought from the spot market at the given point in time. For example, at the time it is needed, the item might be hard to find in the spot market due to shortage in supply. Even where the availability of the item is not an issue, there may be quality issues associated with the purchased item, given that most spot market transactions are one-off trading engagements between strangers. Therefore, while from past experience with his long-term supplier's quality, a buyer may know for instance, that 1 unit of an input material bought from the supplier will yield 1 unit of the end product, he may not be able to accurately make the same prediction regarding the quality of output that can be experienced from spot purchase.

To this end, it would be interesting to study the effects of spot market reliability on both the commodity user and the supplier, especially since in this case, the supplier will be able to leverage the supply reliability offering in addition to the higher price stability that the contract enjoys.

6.2 Effects of Disparity in Spot Market Price Distributions

In this dissertation, while I have modeled some imperfections in the spot market in terms of how the buyer can access it in the purchasing, pricing, and production problem, I have nonetheless adopted the same widespread assumption in literature that the commodity user and supplier both face the same spot market price distribution. As suggested by Wu et al. (2002), a reasonable generalization that one could consider is the case in which both parties face different spot price distributions.

6.3 Relational Contracts

In this dissertation, I have treated the commodity producer's (supplier's) cost of production as fixed. In practice however, it is not uncommon for a commodity producer to experience cost uncertainty in her production operations. For example, while the cost of finding the iron ore may be fixed for an iron ore producer, she may be exposed to the fluctuations in the prices of the energy commodities she relies on for her operations.

With growing concerns about the effects of rising costs on suppliers' bottom lines, of recent, there's been a gradual emergence of works in the supply chain contracting literature addressing the issue of contracting under supplier production cost uncertainty. These works have been mainly inspired by the success of the buyer-supplier alliances observed in the Japanese automotive industry. These alliances are characterized by, among others, long-term relationships and risk-sharing contracting practices wherein the buyer assumes some of the risk associated with for instance, the supplier's production cost by having the contract price tied to the supplier's realized cost of production. This risk-sharing pricing strategy serves to alleviate the suppliers' exposure to cost increases particularly those derived from exogenous factors like increased commodity prices. Such cooperative buyer-supplier relationships largely account for the productive and financial edge the

Japanese auto suppliers hold over their U.S counterparts with far less or even non-existing buyersupplier cooperative alliances (see McMillan (1990), Dyer and Ouchi (1993), Dyer (1996), Dyer et al. (1998) for a contrast of the Japanese auto supply networks, also referred to as Keiretsu, and their U.S counterparts).

Under the Japanese-style risk-sharing contract pricing strategy, the contract price is set dynamically, usually starting from a mark-up of the supplier's costs, and adjusted periodically to reflect changes in the supplier's production costs (Camuffo et al. (2005), McMillan (1990)). A key basis for such risk-sharing contracts is the supplier's anticipation of future opportunities to transact with the buyer over an extended period of time so that the theory of repeated games and relational contracts come into play (Camuffo et al. (2005)). Advanced by the Nobel-prize-winning work of Aumann (1959), the theory of repeated games captures the idea that faced with the prospect of recurrent interactions over a long period of time, a rational player would take into consideration, the impact of his current decision on the future decisions of other players, so that reputation effects and fear of retribution induces cooperative behavior. The seminal three-part paper of Harsanyi (1967, 1968) which allowed for a coherent formulation of games of incomplete information, paved the way for the beginning of a theory of repeated games with incomplete information wherein players have an incentive to conceal or reveal private information (Aumann et al. (1995)).

Relational contract theory focusses on the relationship between contracting parties in a repeated interaction framework and posits that this leads to cooperation and to implicit obligations being self-enforcing (Hviid, (1999)). According to Goetz and Scott (1981), "A contract is relational to the extent that the parties are incapable of reducing important terms of the arrangement to well-defined obligations. Such definitive obligations may be impractical because of the inability to identify uncertain future conditions or because of inability to characterize complex adaptations adequately even when the contingencies themselves can be identified in advance". Therefore, it is the value of future relationship that serves to support the enforcement of relational contracts as their incomplete characterization makes direct legal enforcements impossible (see Baker et al. (2002) and Hviid, (1999) for an extensive review of relational contracts).

A key construct underlying the level of success that can be achieved with self-enforcing contracts is the degree to which the contracting parties trust the other to not place personal gains over the fulfilment of promised obligations. Closely related to trust is the notion of reputation - an expectation about an individual's behavior given the observation of his past behavior. Generally, the higher the reputation of an individual, the more trustworthy that individual is considered to be, and the brighter is the prospect of future dealings. It can thus be expected that how much a trading partner values his reputation is closely linked to the value he places on the future relationship.

The concept of reputation, particularly how it can be elicited from self-seeking economic agents and its effect on future trading decisions has been widely studied in the information systems literature (Bolton et al. (2005), Dellarocas (2005, 2006), Pavlou and Dimoka (2006), Resnick et al. (2006), Ba and Pavlou (2002), and Lucking-Reiley et al. (2000)). This can be largely attributed to the advent of electronic markets in which anonymous traders transact with each other usually on a one-shot basis thus making the realization of trust in such virtual trading environments a very complex issue compared to the conventional brick-and-mortar business communities.

The role of reputation in government contracting has also received significant amount of attention (Lewis (1986), Arvan and Leite (1990), and Perez-Castrillo and Riedinger (2004)). This can be largely attributed to the fact that with most long-term government sponsored projects, at the time of contract negotiation, not all information concerning the project are available thereby making it difficult to credibly commit to a firm course of action over the life of the project.

Building long-term supplier relationship is gaining increasing recognition as an important aspect of supply chain management. However, most of the supply chain contracting literature have

focused on one-shot, legally binding contracts (as is the case with this dissertation), thereby eliminating the value of future relationships and constraining the involved parties to ignore reputation (Ren et al. (2006)). It is only of recent that serious academic consideration has been given to the viability of relational contracts in sustaining long-term supply chain relationships, with most of these works addressing the optimal choices for the buyer. Few works have considered relational contracts in which the buyer takes on the risk of the supplier's production cost increases, and of particular note are those of Swinney and Netessine (2009), and Babich (2008). However, in deriving the buyer's optimal choices, the supplier's willingness to act in good faith in correctly revealing and bringing down costs for the sake of future business opportunities is assumed to be guaranteed. These works fail to take into account the impact of the value of the future business on the supplier's readiness to forgo short-term gains in serving the interest of the buyer. Filling this gap will no doubt constitute an important contribution to the supply chain contracting literature.

APPENDIX A PROOF OF PROPOSITIONS

Proof of Proposition 1: I start by analyzing the effect of α on the user's decision. Taking the first order derivative of x^u with respect to α , we may derive that

$$\frac{\partial x^{u}}{\partial \alpha} = \frac{\beta \sigma^{2} \cdot ((\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \beta \sigma^{2} \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} - \gamma \delta)}{2 \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + \gamma)^{2}}.$$
(6.1)

Hence, $\partial x^u / \partial \alpha > 0$ if and only if

$$\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1-\alpha)^2 + (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma \omega) \cdot (1-\alpha) - \gamma \delta > 0.$$
(6.2)

The solution to

$$\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1-\alpha)^2 + (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma \omega) \cdot (1-\alpha) - \gamma \delta = 0$$
(6.3)

is $\alpha = \alpha_0$, where α_0 is defined in the statement of the proposition. Thus, we have $\partial x^u / \partial \alpha > 0$ if and only if $\alpha < \alpha_0$.

Now I show that E^{sc} has a similar trend. To this end, by plugging (3.21) into (3.27) and taking derivative, we may obtain

$$\partial E^{sc} / \partial \alpha = [(\beta \sigma^2 \cdot ((\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 - \gamma \delta)) \times (\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa) + 2\gamma^2 \omega + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 \cdot (\mu - \kappa) + 4\gamma \beta \sigma^2 \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 - 2\gamma \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha))] / [4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2)^3].$$
(6.4)

It can be verified that

$$(\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa) + 2\gamma^2 \omega + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 \cdot (\mu - \kappa) + 4\gamma \beta \sigma^2 \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 - 2\gamma \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)) > 0,$$
(6.5)

if and only if

$$\omega > (\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)) / (\gamma + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2) - (\mu - \kappa) / 2\gamma.$$
(6.6)

Thus, from (6.4) and (6.6), E^{sc} will be increasing in α , if and only if

$$(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 - \gamma \delta > 0, \text{ and}$$

$$\omega > (\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)) / (\gamma + 2\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2) - (\mu - \kappa) / 2\gamma,$$
(6.7)

or both left-hand sides are negative. We recall that the first inequality of (6.7) is the same condition for which x^u is increasing in α . Hence, E^{sc} is increasing in α if $\alpha - \alpha_0$ and $\omega - \omega_0$ are of opposite signs, and decreasing in α otherwise, where α_0 and ω_0 are defined in the statement of the proposition.

It can be seen right away from (3.21) that the supplier's z^s is strictly decreasing in α . On the other hand, taking the first order derivative of E^s with respect to α , we may derive

$$\partial E^{s}/\partial \alpha = \beta \sigma^{2} \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma \omega + 2\delta \beta \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)) \times$$

$$((\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\gamma \delta + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha))/(4 \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2} + \gamma)^{2}).$$
(6.8)

It is clear that $\partial E^s/\partial \alpha > 0$ if and only if

$$(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\gamma \delta + 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) > 0.$$
(6.9)

Therefore, we have $\partial E^s/\partial \alpha > 0$ if and only if $\alpha < \alpha_1$, where α_1 is defined in the statement of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 2: Let us start by analyzing the effect of β on the commodity user's decision. Taking the first order derivative of x^u of (3.21) with respect to β , we have

$$\frac{\partial x^{u}}{\partial \beta} = -\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot ((\mu-\kappa) \cdot (1-\alpha) - 2\gamma \cdot (\delta-\omega \cdot (1-\alpha))))/$$

$$4 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + \gamma)^{2}.$$
(6.10)

Hence, $\partial x^u / \partial \beta > 0$ if an only if

$$(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\gamma \cdot (\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha)) < 0.$$
(6.11)

Therefore, we have $\partial x^u/\partial \beta > 0$ if and only if $\gamma > \gamma_0$, where γ_0 is defined in the statement of the proposition. On the other hand, it is easily observed from (3.25) that when $\gamma > \gamma_0$, V^u is decreasing in β . Let us now study the effect of β on V^u for $\gamma < \gamma_0$. When $\gamma < \gamma_0$, V^u is increasing in β if and only if

$$\delta/2 > (2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2)). \tag{6.12}$$

Now,

$$(2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha)\cdot(\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(\alpha - 1)^{2})) =$$

$$\gamma \cdot (\delta - \omega \cdot (1-\alpha))/(2 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(1-\alpha))) - ((1-\alpha)\cdot(\mu - \kappa))$$
(6.13)

$$/(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(\alpha - 1)^{2})).$$

It is obvious that

$$\gamma \cdot (\delta - \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha)) / (2 \cdot (\gamma + \beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha))) < \gamma \delta / 2\gamma = \delta / 2.$$
(6.14)

Thus clearly,

$$\delta/2 > (2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2)).$$
(6.15)

It is straightforward to see from equation (3.21) that as β increases, z^s increases everywhere. From (3.26), we may derive that

$$\partial E^{s}/\partial \beta = [\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)) \times \\ ((\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1-\alpha) + 4\gamma\delta - 2\gamma\omega \cdot (1-\alpha) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2})]$$
(6.16)
/(8 \cdot (\beta \sigma^{2}(1-\alpha)^{2} + \gamma)^{2}).

Hence, $\partial E^s / \partial \beta > 0$ if and only if

$$((\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 4\gamma \delta - 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2) > 0.$$
(6.17)

Therefore, we have $\partial E^s/\partial \beta > 0$ if and only if $\beta > \beta_0$, where β_0 is defined in the statement of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 3: I start by analyzing the effect of γ on the user's decision. Taking the first order derivative of x^u of (3.21) with respect to γ , we have:

$$\partial x^{u} / \partial \gamma = -(\mu - \kappa + 2\delta\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha) - 2\omega\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}) /(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2})^{2}) < 0.$$
(6.18)

Taking the first order derivative of V^u with respect to γ , we derive

$$\partial V^{u}/\partial \gamma = [\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\delta\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha) - 2\omega\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2}) \times \\ ((\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1-\alpha) + 4\gamma\delta - 2\gamma\omega \cdot (1-\alpha) + 2\delta\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2})]$$

$$/(8 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2})^{3}).$$
(6.19)

Hence, $\partial V^u / \partial \gamma > 0$ if and only if

$$(\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 4\gamma \delta - 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\delta\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 > 0.$$
(6.20)

Therefore, $\partial V^u / \partial \gamma > 0$ if and only if $\gamma > \gamma_1$, where γ_1 is defined in the statement of the proposition.

Further, from (3.5) and (3.7), we have $V^u = \sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha x^u + y^u)^2$. When $\gamma = \gamma_1$, it can be verified

that

$$x^{u} = \frac{\delta}{1-\alpha}; \text{ and } y^{u} = -\frac{\alpha\delta}{1-\alpha},$$
 (6.21)

so that V^u reduces to zero.

It is straightforward to see from (3.21) that as γ increases, z^s increases everywhere. For the effect of γ on the supplier's E^s , taking the first order derivative of E^s with respect to γ , we may derive that

$$\partial E^{s}/\partial \gamma = [(2\omega\beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(1-\alpha)^{2}+2\omega\gamma)^{2}-(\kappa-\mu-2\delta\beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(1-\alpha)+2\omega\beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(1-\alpha)^{2})^{2}]/(8\cdot(\beta\sigma^{2}\cdot(1-\alpha)^{2}+\gamma)^{2}).$$
(6.22)

Hence, $\partial E^s/\partial \gamma > 0$ if and only if

$$(2\omega\beta\sigma^2\cdot(1-\alpha)^2+2\omega\gamma)^2 > (\kappa-\mu-2\delta\beta\sigma^2\cdot(1-\alpha)+2\omega\beta\sigma^2\cdot(1-\alpha)^2)^2.$$
(6.23)

Therefore, $\partial E^s / \partial \gamma > 0$ if and only if $\gamma > \gamma_2$, where γ_2 is defined in the statement of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 4: It is readily observed from (3.21), that the user's x^u is increasing in ω . Likewise, it is straightforward to see that the supplier's z^s (from (3.21)) and her equilibrium expected profit E^s (from (3.26)) are increasing in ω .

Taking the first order derivative of the user's equilibrium variance of profit with respect to ω , we derive

$$\frac{\partial V^{u}}{\partial \omega} = \left[-(1-\alpha) \cdot \gamma \sigma^{2} \cdot (\delta - ((1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\delta\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)))/(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2}))\right]/(\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2}).$$
(6.24)

Hence, $\partial V^u / \partial \omega > 0$ if and only if

$$\delta - \left((1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\delta\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)) \right) /$$

$$(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2) < 0,$$

$$(6.25)$$

which requires $\omega > \omega_1$, where ω_1 is defined in the statement of the proposition. It can be verified that when $\omega = \omega_1$, $x^u = \delta/(1-\alpha)$ so that as was shown in the proof of proposition 3, V^u reduces to zero.

Proof of Proposition 5: From (3.21), it is straightforward to see that the commodity user's x^u

and the supplier's z^s are increasing in μ . Further, for the supplier, her E^s of (3.26) is increasing in μ .

Taking the first order derivative of the user's equilibrium variance of profit V^u with respect to μ , we may derive

$$\partial V^{u}/\partial \mu = [-(1-\alpha) \cdot 2\sigma^{2} \cdot (\delta - ((1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\delta\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot ((1-\alpha))))/(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2}))]/(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2})).$$
(6.26)

Hence, $\partial V^u / \partial \mu > 0$ if and only if

$$\delta - \left((1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\delta\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)) \right) /$$

$$(4 \cdot (\gamma + \beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2) < 0,$$
(6.27)

and this requires $\mu > \mu_0$, where μ_0 is defined in the statement of the proposition. It can be verified that when $\mu = \mu_0$, $x^u = \delta/(1 - \alpha)$ so that as earlier shown in the proof of proposition 3, V^u reduces to zero. Further, since x^u increases in μ , it implies that when $\mu > \mu_0$, $x^u > \delta/(1 - \alpha)$, so that $x^u > \delta$.

Proof of Proposition 6: I start by analyzing the effect of σ^2 on the user's decision. Taking the first order derivative of x^u with respect to σ^2 , we have

$$\frac{\partial x^u}{\partial \sigma^2} = \frac{\beta \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot \left[(\kappa-\mu) \cdot (1-\alpha) + 2\gamma \delta - 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1-\alpha)\right]}{4 \cdot (\beta \sigma^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)^2 + \gamma)^2}.$$
(6.28)

It is clear that $\delta x^u / \delta \sigma^2 > 0$ if and only if

$$(\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\gamma \delta - 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) > 0.$$
(6.29)

Therefore, $\delta x^u / \delta \sigma^2 > 0$ if and only if $\gamma > \gamma_0$, where γ_0 is defined in the statement of proposition 2.

When $2\gamma\delta < (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega)$ (i.e. $\gamma < \gamma_0$), it is straightforward to see that as σ^2 increases, $(2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2)$ increases everywhere. Hence, when $\gamma < \gamma_0$, V^u of (3.25) strictly increases in σ^2 .

Now, when $\gamma > \gamma_0$, it is clear that $2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega)/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2)$ decreases in σ^2 . We note that the expression for V^u can be re-written as

$$V^{u} = (\sigma\delta/2 + \sigma \cdot (2\gamma\delta - (1 - \alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega)))/$$

$$(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (\alpha - 1)^{2}))^{2}.$$
(6.30)

Since we have already established from the proof of Proposition 2 that $\delta/2 > (2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2))$, it means that an increase in $\sigma\delta/2$ as σ^2 increases will always be greater than whatever decrease $\sigma \cdot (2\gamma\delta - (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega))/(4\gamma + 4\beta\sigma^2 \cdot (\alpha - 1)^2)$ may experience from the increased σ^2 . The implication of this is that V^u will always increase in σ^2 .

It is straightforward to see from (3.21) that as σ^2 increases, z^s increases everywhere. Taking the first order derivative of E^s of (3.26) with respect to σ^2 , we may derive that

$$\partial E^{s} / \partial \sigma^{2} = \left[\beta \cdot (1-\alpha) \cdot (\mu - \kappa + 2\gamma\omega + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha) \times ((\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1-\alpha) + 4\gamma\delta - 2\gamma\omega \cdot (1-\alpha) + 2\beta\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2})\right]$$

$$/(8 \cdot (\beta\sigma^{2} \cdot (1-\alpha)^{2} + \gamma)).$$
(6.31)

 $\partial E^s/\partial \sigma^2 > 0$ if and only if

$$(\kappa - \mu) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 4\gamma \delta - 2\gamma \omega \cdot (1 - \alpha) + 2\beta \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2 > 0.$$
(6.32)

Therefore, $\partial E^s / \partial \sigma^2 > 0$ if and only if $\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2$, where σ_0^2 is defined in the statement of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 8: (a)Taking the first order derivative of $E[\Psi^u]$ of (4.42) with respect to α , we have

$$\frac{\partial E[\Psi^u]}{\partial \alpha} = \delta \cdot (\kappa + 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha)) - \mu \delta + 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha).$$
(6.33)

It is clear from (6.33) that $(\partial E[\Psi^u]/\partial \alpha) > 0$ if and only if

$$\alpha < \alpha_0, \tag{6.34}$$

where α_0 is as defined in the statement of the proposition. The observation that $V[\Psi^u]$ is increasing in α can be directly made from (4.42).

(b) The effects of α on y^s and z^s can be directly observed from (4.36), and its effect on $E[\Psi^s]$ can be deduced from (4.42). Taking the first order derivative of $E[p(\pi)]$ of (4.42) with respect to α , we have

$$\frac{\partial E[p(\pi)]}{\partial \alpha} = \mu - \kappa - 4\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha), \tag{6.35}$$

so that $(\partial E[p(\pi)]/\partial \alpha) > 0$ if and only if

$$\alpha > \alpha_0, \tag{6.36}$$

where α_0 is as defined in the statement of the proposition.

(c) The effect of α on $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ can be directly inferred from (4.42).

Where the opposite of (4.35) holds:

(d)The effects of α on x^u and $E[\Psi^u]$ can be respectively directly observed from (4.37) and (4.43).

Taking the first order derivative of $V[\Psi^u]$ of (4.43) with respect to α , we obtain

$$\frac{\partial V[\Psi^u]}{\partial \alpha} = \frac{\gamma \sigma^2 \cdot (\mu - \kappa - 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha)}{8(\beta^u \sigma^2)^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^3}.$$
(6.37)

From (6.37), we see that $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \alpha) > 0$ if and only if

$$(\mu - \kappa) > 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta. \tag{6.38}$$

Now, the opposite of (4.35) is given by:

$$\gamma \le (1-\alpha) \cdot (2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1-2\alpha) - \mu + \kappa). \tag{6.39}$$

But at the minimum, $\gamma = 0$. Hence, (6.39) implies that

$$(1-\alpha) \cdot (2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-2\alpha) - \mu + \kappa) \ge 0,$$

or
$$2\beta^{u}\sigma^{2}\delta \cdot (1-2\alpha) \ge \mu - \kappa.$$
 (6.40)

If (6.40) holds, then clearly,

$$2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \ge \mu - \kappa. \tag{6.41}$$

(6.41) implies that (6.38) is not feasible. Therefore, $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \alpha) \leq 0$ so that $V[\Psi^u]$ is decreasing in α .

(e) The effects of α on y^s and z^s are obvious from (4.37), while its effect on $E[\Psi^s]$ can be deduced from (4.43). From (4.43), we observe that $E[p(\pi)]$ is increasing in α if and only if

$$(\mu - \kappa) > 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta, \tag{6.42}$$

a condition we have shown earlier to be infeasible. Hence, $E[p(\pi)]$ is decreasing in α .

(f) The effect of α on $E[\Psi^u] + E[\Psi^s]$ is obvious from (4.43).

Proof of Proposition 9: The results proposed in (a) and (b) can be deduced directly from (4.42), and (4.36).

(c) Taking the first order derivative of x^u of (4.37) with respect to β^u , we have

$$\frac{\partial x^{u}}{\partial \beta^{u}} = -\frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma}{4(\beta^{u})^{2} \sigma^{2} \cdot (1 - \alpha)^{2}} < 0.$$
(6.43)

The first order derivative of $V[\Psi^u]$ of (4.43) with respect to β^u is given by

$$\frac{\partial V[\Psi^u]}{\partial \beta^u} = -\frac{(\mu - \kappa - 2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta) \cdot (1 - \alpha) \cdot ((\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma)}{8(\beta^u)^3 \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2}.$$
(6.44)

From (6.44), it becomes clear that $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \beta^u) > 0$ if and only if

$$\mu - \kappa - 2\beta^u \sigma^2 < 0. \tag{6.45}$$

From (6.41), we know that (6.45) always holds when the opposite of (4.35) is true. Hence, $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \beta^u) > 0$. The effect of β^u on $E[\Psi^u]$ can be directly observed from (4.43), while it is obvious from (4.37) and (4.43) that β^s has no effect on the user's equilibrium results. The supplier's results proposed in (d) can be deduced directly from (4.37), and (4.43).

(e) It is obvious from (4.43), that:

$$\frac{\partial^2 E[\Psi^u]}{\partial \alpha \partial \beta^u} = \frac{\partial^2 E[\Psi^s]}{\partial \alpha \partial \beta^u} = -\frac{\gamma \cdot (\gamma + (\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha))}{4(\beta^u)^2 \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^3}.$$
(6.46)
Proof of Proposition 10: (a) Can be directly observed from (4.36), and (4.42).

(b) The effects of γ on x^u and $V[\Psi^u]$ are respectively obvious from (4.37), and (4.43). Taking the first order derivative of $E[\Psi^u]$ of (4.43) with respect to γ , we obtain

$$\frac{\partial E[\Psi^u]}{\partial \gamma} = \frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma}{4\beta^u \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2} - \delta.$$
(6.47)

From (6.47), it can be verified that $(\partial E[\Psi^u]/\partial \gamma) > 0$ if and only if

$$\gamma > (1 - \alpha) \cdot (4\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta \cdot (1 - \alpha) - \mu + \kappa).$$
(6.48)

But proposition 10(b) is derived under condition (6.39), so that (6.48) cannot hold. Hence,

 $(\partial E[\Psi^u]/\partial \gamma) \leq 0$ under condition (6.39).

(c) The effects of γ on the supplier's equilibrium results can be directly observed from (4.37), and (4.43).

(d) It can be easily deduced from (4.43) that $\partial^2 E[\Psi^u]/\partial\alpha\partial\gamma$ and $\partial^2 E[\Psi^s]/\partial\alpha\partial\gamma$ are positive.

Proof of Proposition 11: The results proposed in (a) and (b) can be deduced directly from (4.42), and (4.36).

(c)From (4.37), and (4.43) we respectively observe that x^u and $V[\Psi^u]$ are increasing in μ . Taking the first order derivative of $E[\Psi^u]$ with respect to μ , we have

$$\frac{\partial E[\Psi^u]}{\partial \mu} = \frac{\mu - \kappa}{4\beta^u \sigma^2} - \delta + \frac{\gamma}{4\beta^u \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha)}.$$
(6.49)

From (6.49), $(\partial E[\Psi^u]/\partial \mu) > 0$ if and only if

$$\gamma > (1 - \alpha) \cdot (4\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta - \mu + \kappa). \tag{6.50}$$

Again, proposition 11(c) is derived under condition (6.39), so that (6.50) cannot hold. Hence, $(\partial E[\Psi^u]/\partial \mu) \leq 0$ under condition (6.39).

For the supplier, proposition 11(d) can be directly deduced from (4.37), and (4.43).

Proof of Proposition 12: (a) Can be deduced directly from (4.42).

(b) The impacts of σ^2 on the supplier's y^s , z^s , $E[p(\pi)]$, and $V[\Psi^s]$ can be directly observed from (4.36) and (4.42). Taking the first order derivative of $E[\Psi^s]$ with respect to σ^2 , we obtain

$$\frac{\partial E[\Psi^s]}{\partial \sigma^2} = 2\beta^u \delta^2 \cdot (1-\alpha)^2 - \frac{(\mu-\kappa)^2}{2\beta^s \sigma^4}.$$
(6.51)

It can be verified that $(\partial E[\Psi^s]/\partial \sigma^2) > 0$ if and only if

$$\sigma^2 > \sigma_0^2,\tag{6.52}$$

where σ_0^2 is as defined in the statement of the proposition.

(c) The effect of σ^2 on $E[\Psi^u]$ can be directly inferred from (4.43). The first order derivative of x^u with respect to σ^2 is given by

$$\frac{\partial x^u}{\partial \sigma^2} = -\frac{(\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma}{4\beta^u \sigma^4 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2}.$$
(6.53)

From (6.53), it is obvious that $(\partial x^u/\partial \sigma^2) < 0$ everywhere. Taking the first order derivative of $V[\Psi^u]$ with respect to σ^2 , we obtain

$$\frac{\partial V[\Psi^u]}{\partial \sigma^2} = \frac{\delta^2}{4} - \frac{\left((\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) + \gamma\right)^2}{(4\beta^u \sigma^2 \cdot (1 - \alpha))^2},\tag{6.54}$$

It can be verified that $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \sigma^2) > 0$ if and only if

$$\gamma < (1 - \alpha) \cdot (2\beta^u \sigma^2 \delta - \mu + \kappa). \tag{6.55}$$

Since proposition 12 is derived under condition (6.39), we see right away that 6.55 holds anywhere condition (6.39) is applicable so that $(\partial V[\Psi^u]/\partial \sigma^2) > 0$ everywhere.

(d) The effects of σ^2 on y^s , z^s , and $V[\Psi^s]$ are obvious from (4.37), and (4.43). Taking the first order derivative of $E[\Psi^s]$ with respect to σ^2 , we have

$$\frac{\partial E[\Psi^s]}{\partial \sigma^2} = \frac{-2\gamma \cdot (\mu - \kappa) \cdot (1 - \alpha) - \gamma^2}{8\beta^u \sigma^4 \cdot (1 - \alpha)^2} - \frac{(\mu - \kappa)^2 \cdot (4\beta^u + \beta^s)}{8\beta^u \beta^s \sigma^4} + \frac{\beta^u \delta^2}{2}.$$
 (6.56)

From (6.56), it can be verified that $(\partial E[\Psi^s]/\partial \sigma^2) > 0$ if and only if

$$\sigma^2 > \sigma_1^2, \tag{6.57}$$

where σ_1^2 is as defined in the statement of the proposition.

APPENDIX B TRANSFORMATION OF EQUATION (3.6) INTO EQUATION (3.7)

$$\begin{split} F^{u}(x,y,z) &= E[f^{u}(x,y,z,\Pi_{1})] - \beta \cdot E[(f^{u}(x,y,z,\Pi_{1}))^{2}] + \\ \beta \cdot (E[f^{u}(x,y,z,\Pi_{1})])^{2} \\ &= E[f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot \Pi_{1}] - \beta \cdot E[(f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z))^{2} + \\ 2f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot \Pi_{1} + (f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z))^{2} \cdot (\Pi_{1})^{2}] + \\ \beta \cdot (E[f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot \Pi_{1}])^{2} \\ &= f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot E[\Pi_{1}] - \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z))^{2} - \\ 2\beta \cdot f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) \cdot f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot E[\Pi_{1}] - \\ \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z))^{2} \cdot E[\Pi^{2}_{1}] + \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z))^{2} + \\ 2\beta \cdot f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot E[\Pi_{1}] + \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z))^{2} \cdot (E[\Pi_{1}])^{2} \\ &= f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot E[\Pi_{1}] - \\ \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z))^{2} \cdot (E[\Pi^{2}_{1}] - (E[\Pi_{1}])^{2}) \\ &= f^{u}_{0}(x,y,z) + f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z) \cdot E[\Pi_{1}] - \beta \cdot (f^{u}_{1}(x,y,z))^{2} \cdot Var[\Pi_{1}]. \end{split}$$

REFERENCES

- Araman, V., Kleinknecht, J., and Akella, R. "Supplier and Procurement Risk Management in ebusiness". Working Paper, Department of Management Science and Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, 2001.
- Aumann, R.J. "Acceptable Points in General Cooperative n-person Games". In: Luce, R.D., and Tucker, A.W. (eds.), "Contributions to the Theory of Games IV", Annals of Mathematics Study, 40, pp. 287 - 324, Princeton University Press, Princtenon, NJ, 1959.
- Aumann, R.J., Maschler, M.B., and Stearns, R.E. "Repeated Games with Incomplete Information". MIT Press, 1995.
- Arrow, K.J., Harris, T., and Marschak, J. "Optimal Inventory Policy". Econometrica, 19 (3), pp. 250 272, 1951.
- Arvan, L., and Leite, A.P.N. "Cost Overruns in Long-term Projects". International Journal of Industrial Organization, 8 (3), pp. 443 - 467, 1990.
- Ba, S., and Pavlou, P. "Evidence of the Effect of Trust Building Technology in Electronic Markets: Price Premiums and Buyer Behavior". MIS Quarterly, 26 (3), pp. 243 - 268, 2002.
- Babich, V. "Independence of Capacity Ordering and Financial Subsidies to Risky Suppliers". Working Paper Series, SSRN, Sept, 2008.
- Baker, G., Gibbons, R., and Murphy, K.J. "Relational Contracts and the Theory of the Firm". The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 117 (1), pp. 39 84, 2002.
- Bar-Shira, Z., and Finkelshtain, I. "Two-Moments Decision Models and Utility-Representable Preferences". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, 38 (2), pp. 237 - 244, 1999.
- Bassok, Y., and Anupindi, R. "Analysis of Supply Contracts with Total Minimum Commitment". IIE Transactions, 29 (5), pp. 373 - 381, 1997.
- Bawa, V.S., and Lindenberg, E. "Capital Market Equilibrium in a Mean-Lower Partial Moment Framework". Journal of Financial Economics, 5 (2), pp. 189 - 200, 1977.
- Berling, P. "The Capital Cost of Holding Inventory with Stochastically Mean Reverting Purchase Price". European Journal of Operational Research, 186, pp. 620 636, 2008.

- Bodnar, G.M., and Gebhardt, G. "Derivatives Usage in Risk Management by US and German Non-Financial Firms: A Comparative Survey". NBER Working Paper, W6705, 1998.
- Bolton, G.E., Katok, E., and Ockenfels, A. "Bridging the Trust Gap in Electronic Markets: A Strategic Framework for Empirical Study". In: Akcali, E., Geunes, J., Pardalos, P., Romeijn, H., and Shen, Z.J., "Applications of Supply Chain Management and E-Commerce Research in Industry", Springer, New York, 2005.
- Brusset, X. "Comparison between Minimum Purchase, Quantity Flexibility Contracts and Spot Procurement in a Supply Chain". Working Paper 150/05, Louvain School of Management, 2005.
- Buzacott, J.A. "Economic Order Quantity with Inflation" Operational Research Quarterly, 26 (3), pp. 553 558, 1975.
- Cachon, G. "Supply Chain Coordination with Contracts". Chapter 6 of Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science, A.G. de Kok and S.C. Graves (eds.), Elsevier B.V., 2003.
- Cachon, G.P., and Lariviere, M.A. "Supply Chain Coordination with Revenue Sharing Contracts: Strengths and Limitations". Management Science, 51 (1), pp. 30 - 44, 2005.
- Camuffo, A., Furlan, A., and Rettore, E. "Risk Sharing in Supplier Relations: An Agency Model for the Italian Air Conditioning Industry". IPC Working Paper Series, MIT-IPC-05-003, 2005.
- Cohen, M., and Agrawal, N. "An Analytical Comparison of Long and Short Term Contracts". IIE Transaction, 31 (8), pp. 783 796, 1999.
- Corner, J.L, and Corner, P.D. "Characteristics of Decisions in Decision Analysis Practice". The Journal of Operational Research Society, 46, pp. 304 314, 1995.
- Crane, A. "RPT-Hynix Stops Supplying DRAM Chips to Spot Market". REUTERS, Sept. 27, 2007.
- Cypher, J.M. "Militarism, Monetarism and Markets: Reagan's Response to the Structural Crisis". MERIP Reports, 128, pp. 7 - 18, 1984.
- Dellarocas, C. "Reputation Mechanism Design in Online Trading Environments with Pure Moral Hazard". Information Systems Research, 16 (2), pp. 209 230, 2005.
- Dellarocas, C. "How Often Should Reputation Mechanisms Update a Trader's Reputation Profile?". Information Systems Research, 17 (3), pp. 271 - 285, 2006.

- Dong, L., and Liu, H. "Equilibrium Forward Contracts on Nonstorable Commodities in the Presence of Market Power". Operations Research, 55 (1), pp. 128 - 145, 2007.
- Dyer, J.H., and Ouchi, W.G. "Japanese-style Partnership: Giving Companies a Competitive Edge". Sloan Management Review, 35 (1), pp. 51 - 84, 1993.
- Dyer, J. "How Chrysler Created an American Keiretsu". Harvard Business Review, 74 (4), pp. 42 56, 1996.
- Dyer, J., Cho, D.S., and Chu, W. "Strategic Supplier Segmentation: The Next Best Practice in Supply Chain Management". California Management Review, 40 (2), pp. 57 77, 1998.
- Eeckhoudt, L., Gollier, C., and Schlesinger, H. "The Risk-averse (and Prudent) Newsboy". Management Science, 41 (5), pp. 786 794, 1995.
- Fabian, T., Fisher, J.L., Sasieni, M.W., and Yardeni, A. "Purchasing Raw Material on a Fluctuating Market". Operations Research, 7 (1), pp. 107 122, 1959.
- Fotopoulos, S.B., Hu, X., and Munson, C.L. "Flexible Supply Contracts under Price Uncertainty". European Journal of Operational Research, 191 (1), pp. 253 - 263, 2008.
- Friend, J.K. "Stock Control with Random Opportunities for Replenishment". Operational Research Quarterly 11, pp. 130 - 136, 1960.
- Giannoccaro, I, and Pontradolfo, P. "Supply Chain Coordination by Revenue Sharing Contracts". International Journal of Production Economics, 89 (2), pp. 131 - 139, 2004.
- Girlich, H., and Chikan, A. "The Origins of Dynamic Inventory Modeling under Uncertainty (the men, their work and connection with the Stanford Studies)". International Journal of Production Economics, 71(1-3), pp. 351 363, 2001.
- Goetz, C.J., and Scott, R.E. "Principles of Relational Contracts". Virginia Law Review, 67, pp. 1089 1150, 1981.
- Goldfarb, D., and Iyengar, G. "Robust Portfolio Selection Problems". Mathematics of Operations Research, 28 (1), pp. 1 38, 2003.
- Grootveld, H. and Hallerbach, W. "Variance Vs Downside Risk: Is There Really That Much Difference?". European Journal of Operational Research, 114 (2), pp. 304 319, 1999.
- Harlow, W.V., and Rao, R.K.S. "Asset Pricing in a Generalized Mean-Lower Partial Moment Framework: Theory and Evidence". The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 24 (3), pp. 285 - 311, 1989.

- Harsanyi, J.C. "Games with Incomplete Information Played by Bayesian Players". Management Science, 14, pp. 159 182, 320 334, 486 502, 1967 1968.
- Haushalter, G.D. "Financing Policy, Basis Risk, and Corporate Hedging: Evidence from Oil and Gas Producers". The Journal of Finance, 55 (1), pp. 107 152, 2000.
- Hurter, A.P., and Kaminsky, F.C. "Inventory Control with Random and Regular Replenishment". Journal of Industrial Engineering, 19, pp. 380 - 385, 1968.
- Hviid, M. "Long-term Contracts and Relational Contracts". 4200, University of Warwick, Dept. of Economics, pp. 46 - 72, 1999.
- International Business Times. "BHP Shifts to Dynamic Iron-Ore Pricing System". Mining and Resources, July 29, 2009.
- Kalymon, B.A. "Stochastic Prices in a Single Item Inventory Purchasing Model". Operations Research, 19 (6), pp. 1434 1458, 1971.
- Kaminsky, X.G., Tomecek, P., and Yuen, M. "Optimal Spot Market Inventory Strategies in the Presence of Cost and Price Risk". Working Paper, Department of Industrial Engineering and Operations Research, University of California, Berkeley, CA, 2009.
- Karlin, S. "One Stage Inventory Models with Uncertainty". In: Arrow, K.J., Karlin, S., and Scarf, H. [Eds.]. "Studies in the Mathematical Theory of Inventory and Production". Stanford University Press, Stanford, 1958.
- Kinchi, D. "Iron Ore Futures May Start by April, Steel Index Says (Update1)". Bloomberg.com News, Nov. 26, 2008.
- Kleindorfer, P.R., and Wu, D.J. "Integrating Long and Short Term Contracting Via Business to Business Exchanges for Capital - Intensive Industries". Management Science, 49 (11), pp. 1597 - 1615, 2003.
- Konno, H., and Yamazaki, H. "Mean-Absolute Deviation Portfolio Optimization Model and its Application to Tokyo Stock Exchange". Management Science, 37 (5), pp. 519 531, 1991.
- Konno, H. "Piecewise Linear Risk Function and Portfolio Optimization". Journal of the Operations Research Society of Japan, 33 (2), pp. 139 - 156, 1990.
- Lariviere, M.A., and Porteus, E.L. "Selling to the Newsvendor : An Analysis of Price Only Contracts". Manufacturing and Service Operations Management, 3 (4), pp. 293 - 305, 2001.

- Lewis, T.R. "Reputation and Contractual Performance in Long-term Projects". Rand Journal of Economics, 17 (2), pp. 141 157, 1986.
- Li, C., and Kouvelis, P. "Flexible and Risk-Sharing Supply Contracts Under Price Uncertainty". Management Science, 45 (10), pp. 1378 - 1398, 1999.
- Li, S., Murat, A., and Huang, W. "Selection of Contract Suppliers Under Price and Demand Uncertainty in a Dynamic Market". European Journal of Operational Research, 198 pp. 830 -847, 2009.
- Lucking-Reiley, D., Bryan, D., Prasad, N., and Reeves, D. "Pennies from Ebay: The Determinants of Price in Online Auctions". Vanderbilt University Working Paper, 2000.
- Mansini, R., Speranza, M.G. "Heuristic Algorithms for the Portfolio Selection Problem with Minimum Transaction Lots". European Journal of Operational Research, 114 (2), 219 - 233, 1999.
- Markowitz, H.M., Todd, P., Xu, G., and Yamane, Y. "Computation of Mean-Semivariance Efficient Sets by the Critical Line Algorithm". Annals of Operations Research, 45 (1), pp. 307 - 317, 1993.

Markowitz, H. "Portfolio Selection". The Journal of Finance, 7 (1), pp. 77 - 91, 1952.

- Martinez-de-Albeniz, V., and Simchi-Levi, D. "A Portfolio Approach to Procurement Contracts". Production and Operations Management, 14 (1), pp. 90 - 114, 2005.
- Martinez-de-Albeniz, V., and Simchi-Levi, D. "Mean-Variance Trade-offs in Supply Contracts". Naval Research Logistics, 53 (7), pp. 603 - 616, 2006.
- McKinsey Survey on Resource Allocation. "How Companies Spend Their Money: A McKinsey Global Survey". The McKinsey Quarterly, June, 2007.
- McMillan, J. "Managing Suppliers: Incentive Systems in Japanese and U.S Industry". California Management Review, 32, pp. 38 55, 1990.
- Mincsovics, G., Tan, T., and Alp, O. "Integrated Capacity and Inventory Management with Capacity Acquisition Lead Times". European Journal of Operational Research, 196 (3), pp. 949 -958, 2009.
- Monahan, J.P. "A Quantity Pricing Model to Increase Vendor Profits". Management Science, 30 (6), pp. 720 726, 1984.

Mouawad, J. "Swings in Price of Oil Hobble Forecasting". The New York Times, July 5, 2009.

Naddor, E. "Inventory Systems". Wiley, New York, 1966.

- Nagali, V., Hwang, J., Sanghera, D., Gaskins, M., Pridgen, M., Thurston, T., Mackenroth, P., Branvold, D., Scholler, P., and Shoemaker, G. "Procurement Risk Management (PRM) at Hewlett-Packard Company". Interfaces, 38 (1), pp. 51 - 60, 2008.
- Neumann, J.V., and Morgenstern, O. "Theory of Games and Economic Behavior". Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1944.
- Noria Corporation. "2007 U.S. Automotive Outlook: Suppliers Stuck in Reverse". Reliable Plant Magazine, 2006.
- Ogryczak, W. "Multiple Criteria Linear Programming Model for Porfolio Selection". Annals of Operations Research, 97, pp. 143 162, 2000.
- Ogryczak, W., and Ruszsczynski, A. "From Stochstic Dominance to Mean-Risk Models: Semideviations as Risk Measures". European Journal of Operational Research, 116 (1), pp. 33 - 50, 1999.
- Pasternack, B.A. "Optimal Pricing and Returns Policies for Perishable Commodities". Marketing Science, 4 (2), pp. 166 - 176, 1985.
- Pasternack, B.A. "The Capacitated Newsboy Problem with Revenue Sharing". Journal of Applied Mathematics and Decision Sciences, 5 (1), pp. 21 33, 2001.
- Pavlou, P.A., and Dimoka, A. "The Nature and Role of Feedback Text Comments in Online Marketplaces: Implications for Trust Building, Price Premiums, and Seller Differentiation". Information Systems Research, 17, (4), pp. 392 - 414, 2006.
- Pei, P.P. "Towards a Unified Theory of Procurement Contract Design: Production Flexibility, Spot Market Trading, and Contract Structure". Doctoral Dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, MA, 2008.
- Perez-Castrillo, D., and Riedinger, N. "Auditing Cost Overrun Claims". Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, 54 (2), pp. 267 - 285, 2004.
- Ren, Z.J., Cohen, M.A., Ho, T.H., and Terwiesch, C. "Sharing Forecast Information in a LOngterm Supply Chain Relationship". Working Paper, 2006.
- Resnick, P., Zeckhauser, R., Swanson, J., and Lockwood, K. "The Value of Reputation on Ebay: A Controlled Experiment". Experimental Economics, 9 (2), pp. 79 - 101, 2006.

- Rockafellar, R.T., and Uryasev, S. "Optimization of Conditional Value-at-Risk". Journal of Risk, 2 (3), pp. 21 41, 2000.
- Ruszczynski, A., and Vanderbei, R.J. "Frontiers of Stochastically Nondominated Portfolios". Econometrica, 71 (4), pp. 1287 - 1297, 2003.
- Schoemaker, P.J.H. "The Expected Utility Model: Its Variants, Purposes, Evidence and Limitations". Journal of Economic Literature, 20 (2), pp. 529 - 563, 1982.
- Sahay, B.S., and Mohan, R. "Supply Chain Management Practices in Indian Industry". Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, 33 (7), pp. 582 606, 2003.
- Schweitzer, M., and Cachon, G. "Decision Bias in the Newsvendor Problem with a Known Demand Distribution: Experimental Evidence". Management Science, 46 (3), pp. 404 - 420, 2000.
- Scott, J., and Gordon, P. "Iron Ore Spot Sales Increase as Benchmark Fade, Murray Says". Bloomberg.com News, Oct. 13, 2009.
- Secomandi, N., and Kekre, S. "Commodity Procurement with Demand Forecast and Forward Price Updates". Tepper Working Paper 2009-E25, Tepper School of Business, Carnegie Mellon University, PA, 2009.
- Seifert, R., Thonemann, U., and Hausman, W. "Optimal Procurement Strategies for Online Spot Markets". European Journal of Operational Research, 152 (3), pp. 781 - 799, 2004.
- Sethi, S., and Feng, Q. "Procurement Flexibility under Price Uncertainty". McCombs Research Paper Series No. IROM-04-09, 2008.
- Sharpe, W.F. "A Linear Programming Approximation for the General Portfolio Analysis Problem". Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 6 (5), pp. 1263 - 1275, 1971.
- Sharpe, W.F. "A Simplified Model for Portfolio Analysis". Management Science, 9 (2), pp. 277 293, 1963.
- Silver, E.A. "Establishing the Reorder Quantity when the Amount Received is Uncertain". IN-FOR, 14 (1), pp. 32 39, 1976.
- Starr, M.K., and Miller, D.W. "Inventory Control: Theory and Practice". Prentice Hall, Inc, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1962.

Stundza, T. "Copper Prices May Turn South in 2007". Purchasing, September 13, 2006.

Stundza, T. "Iron Ore Prices May Rise Again". Purchasing, September 13, 2006.

- Swinney, R., and Netessine, S. "Long-Term Contracts Under the Threat of Supplier Default". Manufacturing and Service Operations Management, 11 (1), pp. 109 - 127, 2009.
- Tsay, A., Nahmias S., and Agrawal, N. "Modeling Supply Chain Contracts: A Review". In: Tayar S., Ganeshan, R., and Magazine, M. (Eds.), Quantitative Models for Supply Chain Management, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Norwell, MA, pp. 299 - 336, 1999.
- Tsay, A.A. "The Quantity Flexibility Contract and Supplier-Customer Incentive". Management Science, 45 (10), pp. 1339 1358, 1999.
- Tsiang, S.C. "The Rationale of the Mean-Standard Deviation Analysis, Skewness, Preference, and the Demand for Money". American Economic Review, 62 (3), pp. 354 371, 1972.
- Uryasev, S. "Conditional Value-at-Risk: Optimization Algorithms and Applications". Financial Engineering News, 14, pp. 1 6, 2000.
- Varangis, P., and Larson, D. "Dealing with Commodity Price Uncertainty". Policy Research Working Paper, WPS 1667, Commodity Policy and Analysis Unit, The World Bank International Economics Department, 1996.
- Viswanathan, S., and Wang, Q. "Discount Pricing Decisions in Distribution Channels with Price -Sensitive Demand". European Journal of Operational Research, 149 (3), pp. 571 - 587, 2003.
- Vuppalapati, K., Ahire, S.L., and Gupta, T. "JIT and TQM: A Case for Joint Implementation". International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 15 (5), pp. 84 - 94, 1995.
- Wang, Y., Jiang, L, and Shen Z. "Channel Performance Under Consignment Contract with Revenue Sharing". Management Science, 50 (1), pp. 34 - 47, 2004.

Whitin, T.M. "Inventory Control and Price Theory". Management Science, 2, pp. 61 - 80, 1955.

- Wu, D.J., Kleindorfer, P.R. "Supply Contracting, and Electronic Markets". Management Science, 51 (3), pp. 452 - 466, 2005.
- Wu, D.J., Kleindorfer, P.R., and Zhang, J.E. "Optimal Bidding and Contracting Strategies for Capital-Intensive Goods". European Journal of Operational Research, 137 (3), pp. 657 -676, 2002.
- Wu, D.J., Kleindorfer, P.R., and Zhang, J.E. "Optimal Bidding and Contracting Strategies in the Deregulated Electric Power Marketplace: Part II". In: R.H. Sprague, Jr., Editor, Proceedings of the 34th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE Computer

Society Press, Los Alamitos, CA, 2001.

- Yano, C.A., and Lee, H.L. "Lot Sizing with Random Yields: A Review". Operations Research, 43 (2), pp. 311 334, 1995.
- Young, M.R. "A Minimax Portfolio Selection Rule with Linear Programming Solution". Management Science, 44 (5), pp. 673 683, 1998.